

# Affine Sphere Relativity

# E. Minguzzi

Dipartimento di Matematica e Informatica "U. Dini", Università degli Studi di Firenze, Via S. Marta 3, 50139 Firenze, Italy. E-mail: ettore.minguzzi@unifi.it

Received: 21 January 2016 / Accepted: 23 October 2016 Published online: 23 November 2016 – © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2016

**Abstract:** We investigate spacetimes whose light cones could be anisotropic. We prove the equivalence of the structures: (a) Lorentz-Finsler manifold for which the mean Cartan torsion vanishes, (b) Lorentz–Finsler manifold for which the indicatrix (observer space) at each point is a convex hyperbolic affine sphere centered on the zero section, and (c) pair given by a spacetime volume and a sharp convex cone distribution. The equivalence suggests to describe (affine sphere) spacetimes with this structure, so that no algebraicmetrical concept enters the definition. As a result, this work shows how the metric features of spacetime emerge from elementary concepts such as measure and order. Nonrelativistic spacetimes are obtained replacing *proper* spheres with *improper* spheres, so the distinction does not call for group theoretical elements. In physical terms, in affine sphere spacetimes the light cone distribution and the spacetime measure determine the motion of massive and massless particles (hence the dispersion relation). Furthermore, it is shown that, more generally, for Lorentz-Finsler theories non-differentiable at the cone, the lightlike geodesics and the transport of the particle momentum over them are well defined, though the curve parametrization could be undefined. Causality theory is also well behaved. Several results for affine sphere spacetimes are presented. Some results in Finsler geometry, for instance in the characterization of Randers spaces, are also included.

## Contents

1.	Introduction	750
	1.1 Elements of Lorentz–Finsler theory	752
	1.2 Quotient and induced metrics	755
	1.3 Riemannian Hessian metric on the timelike subbundle	756
2.	Preliminaries on Affine Spheres and Indicatrices	758
	2.1 Proper affine spheres	761
	2.2 Improper affine spheres	764

2.4 Obtaining Finslerian results from affine differential geometry	771
3. Applications to Anisotropic Relativity	773
3.1 Classification of affine spheres and cone structures	773
3.2 Physical interpretation of projective coordinates	779
3.3 Legendre transform and dispersion relations	783
3.4 Group–phase duality	786
3.5 Non-relativistic spacetimes are improper affine sphere bundles	787
4. Geodesic Flow on the Light Cone Bundle and Causality	793
5. Conclusions	798
References	799

#### 1. Introduction

In recent years the Finslerian generalization of general relativity has made considerable progress. Several results, including much of the edifice of causality theory and the famous singularity theorems, have been generalized [1,63,64,66]. Only a few but important difficulties still remain; this work is devoted to the solutions of some of those. As we shall see, their resolution will make us look at the spacetime concept in some novel ways.

In general relativity it is possible to recover the Lorentz metric from the spacetime volume form and the light cone distribution. In fact, it is well known that in spacetime dimension  $n + 1 \ge 3$  two Lorentzian metrics on the same manifold share the same light cones if and only if they are proportional, see e.g. [97, App. D]. The conformal factor can then be fixed to one imposing the equality of the volume forms.

This very simple property has prominent importance because it shows that the gravitational phenomena is encoded in two simple concepts: the causal order and the spacetime measure. One could also add to this pair a further element, namely the spacetime topology.

This observation has led several researchers to believe that the quantization of gravity or better, of spacetime itself, must be formulated in terms of these structures. Among the theories that embody these ideas we might mention Causal Set Theory [11] and unimodular gravity [3,10,88].

We share the opinion that a fundamental theory should pass through the concepts of order, measure and topology and so that once the manifold is given, one should be able to recover the metric from a volume form and a cone structure. Unfortunately, this correspondence is lost for the so far proposed Finslerian generalizations of Einstein's general relativity, so this work aims to solve this problem.

It is perhaps worth to recalling what is Finsler geometry before we become more specific. We might say that Riemannian spaces can be obtained from differentiable manifolds M introducing a point dependent scalar product g (Riemannian metric), which has the effect of converting each tangent space  $T_x M$  into a (finite dimensional) Hilbert space. Similarly, Finsler spaces can be obtained from manifolds M by introducing a point dependent Minkowski norm  $F_x$  or, which is the same, a Finsler Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L} = F^2/2$ , which converts each tangent space  $T_x M$  into a Minkowski space, namely into a Banach space with strongly convex unit balls. These unit balls are also called *indicatrices*.

As the Minkowski ball is no more round (ellipsoidal), namely since it cannot be brought to a sphere through a linear change of coordinates on  $T_x M$ , Finsler geometry is essentially related to anisotropic features of the space.

In Finslerian generalizations of Einstein's theory there are further complications related to the fact that the Finsler Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}$ , having Lorentzian Hessian, induces non-compact unit balls (indicatrices).

We shall recognize that anisotropic theories of relativity can preserve the correspondence,

Finsler Lagrangian ⇔ spacetime measure + light cone structure,

provided the Finsler indicatrix is an affine sphere, or equivalently, provided the mean Cartan torsion (Tchebycheff form) vanishes:

$$I_{\alpha} = 0. \tag{1}$$

This idea is the result of the physical interpretation of deep mathematical results by several distinguished mathematicians including Pogorelov, Calabi, Cheng and Yau. We shall also show that the coordinates introduced by Gigena to study affine spheres have a transparent physical interpretation. In particular, inhomogeneous projective coordinates should be used on the tangent space while homogeneous projective coordinates should be used on the cotangent space; in this way the former can be interpreted as velocity components while the latter as momentum components. The function u(v) solving the Monge–Ampère equation of the affine sphere will receive the interpretation of observer Lagrangian of the theory.

In order to fully understand this solution we will have to introduce some concepts from *affine differential geometry*, as the reader might not be acquainted with this beautiful mathematical theory [52,74]. Thus portions of the work will have a review character. We do not claim particular originality in this exposition, saved perhaps for the Finslerian point of view which at this stage is necessary in order to establish a connection with current literature on anisotropic gravity theories.

We recall that affine differential geometry originated with Blaschke's construction of a natural transverse direction—the *affine normal*—to any point on a non-degenerate hypersurface immersed on affine space. Remarkably, the construction does not require a scalar product, a fact which, ultimately, will allow us to give a definition of spacetime free from algebraic-metrical elements. For instance, the distinction between non-relativistic and relativistic physics will be devoid of group theoretical characterizations and related instead to the center of the affine sphere distribution, whether placed at infinity or not.

Since the vacuum equations of general relativity demand the proportionality between the Ricci tensor and the metric, one might ask whether the condition  $I_{\alpha} = 0$  has a similar characterization. We shall prove that the answer is affirmative in at least three different ways as  $I_{\alpha} = 0$  can be regarded as the Kähler–Einstein condition for the Lorentz–Finsler metric (Theorem 2), as the Kähler–Einstein condition for the Monge–Ampère (Cheng-Yau) Riemannian metric of the timelike cone (Theorem 1), and also as a kind of Einstein condition for the Blaschke structure of the indicatrix (Proposition 2).

Much of this work will be devoted to the kinematics of the theory and to its interpretation. The many proposed Finslerian gravitational dynamics [16,37–40,49,55,71,72, 76,80,83–87,93,96] can then be adapted to our kinematical model, adding the condition  $I_{\alpha} = 0$ . A dynamics proposed by the author which first suggested to consider a vanishing mean Cartan torsion can be found in [63]. There it was shown that the (hh-)Ricci tensor  $R^{\mu}_{\alpha\mu\beta}$  appearing in most dynamical proposals is symmetric if  $I_{\alpha} = 0$ , and also that these spaces are weakly-Berwald and weakly-Landsberg.

In (positive definite) Finsler spaces the condition  $I_{\alpha} = 0$  was already considered by Cartan [15], but later Deicke [20] discovered that Finsler spaces satisfying this condition

were Riemannian and hence isotropic. Of course, the interest in this condition faded, since the many results obtained through its imposition were a consequence of the triviality of the Finsler space. Early authors working in Finsler gravity did not pay much attention to the signature of the metric, so some of them discarded this condition [39] although Deicke's theorem really holds only for positive definite metrics.

Exact solutions will not be considered in this work but in a related paper [69] we shall provide examples of affine sphere spacetimes that reduce themselves to the Schwarzschild, Kerr, FLRW spacetimes in a suitable velocity limit, and hence which satisfy the Lorentzian Einstein equations in the same limit. In general, the affine sphere condition  $I_{\alpha} = 0$  is quite hard to solve though, as we shall recall, general theorems guarantee the existence of solutions. Mathematicians are working to find new methods to generate affine spheres in closed form [25,33]. A perturbative approach seems more amenable but will be pursued in a different work.

This work is organized as follows. In the first section we recall some elements of Lorentz–Finsler theory, we define the indicatrix and we introduce the quotient and the induced metrics on the indicatrix. We introduce the canonical Hessian metric of the timelike cone and relate the Finsler Lagrangian to the Kähler potential of the cone. We also give some arguments pointing to a null mean Cartan torsion, which can be added to those already discussed in [63]. This condition makes it possible to identify the spacetime volume form in the usual way and can be regarded as a Kähler affine condition of Ricci flatness on the vertical degrees of freedom.

In the second section we introduce the mathematics of affine spheres, we characterize affine spheres through the mean Cartan torsion  $I_{\alpha}$ , we clarify the role of the volume form on spacetime, we show how to convert affine sphere theoretical results into Finslerian results (and conversely), and prove some theorems required for the physical interpretation of affine spheres. We introduce both proper and improper spheres, the physical theory constructed from those leading respectively to relativistic and non-relativistic physics.

The third section is devoted to the application of the results of the previous sections to the geometrical and physical interpretation of Lorentz–Finsler spaces having vanishing mean Cartan torsion. Here we use a deep mathematical theorem, first conjectured by Calabi, in order to connect volume and conic order on spacetime with the affine sphere distribution on the tangent bundle. We are then able to give a definition of affine sphere spacetime that does not involve metrical or group theoretical elements.

In the fourth section we return to the broader framework of Lorentz–Finsler theories. We show that the lightlike geodesic flow follows solely from the distribution of light cones and so does the transport of the photon momenta along the geodesic. These results are really independent of the Lagrangian and so do not use its differentiability at the light cone. They require just differentiability and convexity conditions on the distribution of light cones. Finally, we prove that the standard results of causality theory are preserved.

For space reasons the discussion of the relativity principle and a study of some models satisfying it will be given in a different work [69].

1.1. Elements of Lorentz-Finsler theory. Concerning notation and terminology, the Lorentz signature is (-, +, ..., +). The wedge product between 1-forms is defined by  $\alpha \wedge \beta = \alpha \otimes \beta - \beta \otimes \alpha$ . On an affine space *E* the Hessian metric of a function *f* with respect to affine coordinates will be denoted, with some abuse of notation,  $d^2 f$ . The inclusion is reflexive:  $X \subset X$ . The manifold *M* has dimension  $m = n + 1 \ge 2$  and it will be physically interpreted as the spacetime. Greek indices take values 0, 1, ..., n while latin indices take values in 1, ..., n. We shall often write *y* in place of  $y^i$ . Local

coordinates on *M* are denoted  $\{x^{\mu}\}$  while the induced local coordinate system on *TM* is  $\{x^{\mu}, y^{\nu}\}$ , namely  $y^{\nu}\partial/\partial x^{\nu} \in T_x M$ .

A point in the space TTM will be denoted with  $(x, y, \dot{x}, \dot{y})$ . Observe that the canonical projection  $\pi: TM \to M$ ,  $(x, y) \mapsto x$ , has pushforward  $\pi_*: TTM \to TM$ ,  $(x, y, \dot{x}, \dot{y}) \mapsto (x, \dot{x})$  so the vertical space VTM consists of the points  $(x, y, 0, \dot{y})$  and it is naturally diffeomorphic to  $TM \times_M TM$  (it can be easily checked calculating the cocyle after a change of coordinates  $\tilde{x} = \tilde{x}(x)$  on the base [31,63]).

We start giving a quite general setting for Finsler spacetime theory, which we call the *rough model* [4,70,77].

Let  $\Omega$  be a subbundle of the slit tangent bundle,  $\Omega \subset TM \setminus 0$ , such that  $\Omega_x$  is an open sharp convex cone for every x. A *Finsler Lagrangian* is a map  $\mathscr{L} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  which is positive homogeneous of degree two in the fiber coordinates

$$\mathscr{L}(x, sy) = s^2 \mathscr{L}(x, y), \quad \forall s > 0.$$

It is assumed that the fiber dependence is at least  $C^3(\Omega)$ , that  $\mathscr{L} < 0$  on  $\Omega$  and that  $\mathscr{L}$  can be continuously extended setting  $\mathscr{L} = 0$  on  $\partial \Omega$ . We might denote  $\mathscr{L}_x := \mathscr{L}|_{\Omega_x}$ . The matrix metric is defined as the Hessian of  $\mathscr{L}$  with respect to the fibers

$$g_{\mu\nu}(x, y) = \frac{\partial^2 \mathscr{L}}{\partial y^{\mu} \partial y^{\nu}}.$$

This matrix can be used to define a metric in two different, but essentially equivalent ways. The Finsler metric is typically defined as  $g = g_{\mu\nu}(x, y)dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}$  and is a map  $g: \Omega \to T^*M \otimes T^*M$ . For any given *x* one could also use this matrix and the mentioned diffeomorphism with the vertical space to define a vertical metric on  $\Omega_x$  as follows  $g_{\mu\nu}(x, y)dy^{\mu}dy^{\nu}$ . Most often we shall use the latter metric, but should nevertheless be clear from the context which one is meant. In index free notation the metric will be also denoted  $g_y$  to stress the dependence on the fiber coordinates. Given a non-linear connection one could also interpret these two metrics as two different restrictions, horizontal or vertical, of the Sasaki metric on  $\Omega$ 

$$g_S = g_{\mu\nu}(x, y) \,\mathrm{d}x^{\mu}\mathrm{d}x^{\nu} + g_{\mu\nu}(x, y) \,\delta y^{\mu}\delta y^{\nu},$$

where  $\delta y^{\mu} = dy^{\mu} + N^{\mu}_{\nu}(x, y)dx^{\nu}$  and  $N^{\nu}_{\mu}$  are the coefficients of the non-linear connection.

The manifold  $(M, \mathcal{L})$  is called a *Finsler spacetime* whenever  $g_y$  is Lorentzian, namely of signature (-, +, ..., +). By positive homogeneity we have  $\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}g_y(y, y)$  and  $d\mathcal{L} = g_y(y, \cdot)$ . The usual Lorentzian-Riemannian case is obtained for  $\mathcal{L}$  quadratic in the fiber variables. The vectors belonging to  $\Omega_x$  are called *timelike* while those belonging to  $\partial \Omega_x \setminus \{0\}$  are called *lightlike*. We shall also denote the former set with  $I_x^+$  and the latter set with  $E_x^+$ , often dropping the plus sign. A vector is *causal* if it is either timelike or lightlike, the set of causal vectors being denoted  $J_x^+$ . The plus sign is introduced for better comparison with notations of Lorentzian geometry and general relativity and can be dropped in most parts of this work.

There are other approaches to Lorentz–Finsler geometry which are contrasted in [70]. For instance, one might start with a Finsler Lagrangian defined on the whole slit tangent bundle  $TM \setminus \{0\}$ , in which case it is possible to prove, for  $n \ge 2$  and for reversible Lagrangians  $\mathcal{L}(x, -y) = \mathcal{L}(x, y)$ , that the timelike set  $\{\mathcal{L} < 0\}$  is the union of two convex sharp cones [65] (see also [6,7,75]). A time orientability assumption allows one to select a future  $I_x^+$  and a past  $I_x^-$  continuous cone distribution as in Lorentzian

geometry. The present study applies to this framework as well provided the future cone is identified with  $\Omega$  and the Finsler Lagrangian is there restricted. Observe that we do not demand the differentiability of the Finsler Lagrangian at the boundary  $E^+$ , nor that the metric can be continuously extended to it. This condition would make it possible to replace the Finsler Lagrangian with an extension defined over the whole slit tangent bundle [70].

The space indicatrix, or observer space, or simply *the indicatrix* is the set<sup>1</sup>

$$\mathscr{I}^{-} = \{ (x, y) \in \Omega : 2\mathscr{L}(x, y) = -1 \}$$

Once again there will be no ambiguity in dropping the minus sign.

Due to positive homogeneity the Finsler Lagrangian can be recovered from the indicatrix as follows

$$\mathscr{L}(x, y) = -s^2/2$$
, where  $s > 0$  and  $y/s \in \mathscr{I}^-$ . (2)

The Cartan torsion is defined by

$$C_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(x, y) := \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\gamma}} g_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (3)$$

it is symmetric and satisfies  $C_{\alpha\beta\gamma}y^{\gamma} = 0$ . Its traceless part will be denoted with  $M_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$ . The Cartan curvature is  $C_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} := \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\delta}} C_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$ . For every *x* the set  $\Omega_x$  endowed with the vertical metric  $g_{\mu\nu}(x, y) dy^{\mu} dy^{\nu}$  has Levi–Civita connection coefficients  $C^{\alpha}_{\beta\gamma}$  in the coordinates  $\{y^{\mu}\}$ . The mean Cartan torsion is

$$I_{\alpha} := g^{\mu\nu} C_{\mu\nu\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\alpha}} \log |\det g_{\mu\nu}|, \qquad (4)$$

where for the last equality we used Jacobi's formula for the derivative of the determinant.

A well known problem in Finsler geometry is that of providing a natural notion of manifold volume form. There have been several proposals, the most popular being the Busemann's and the Holmes–Thompson's volume forms [2]. Unfortunately, none of them can work in a Lorentz–Finsler framework since they rely on the compactness of the indicatrix.

In pseudo-Riemannian geometry there is a simple volume form associated to any metric. In a local coordinate system it is given by

$$d\mu = \left| \sqrt{|\det g_{\mu\nu}|} dx^0 \wedge dx^1 \wedge \dots \wedge dx^n \right| = \sqrt{|\det g_{\mu\nu}|} d^{n+1}x.$$
(5)

where || reminds us that we are taking the equivalence class, that is, we are regarding as equivalent any two *n*+1-forms differing by a sign.

Since in Physics there seems to be the need of a well defined spacetime volume we find in Eq. (4) a first motivation for imposing the condition  $I_{\alpha} = 0$ . This is the simplest condition which assures that a natural volume form on spacetime could be defined. In fact, if it holds true we can adopt the usual pseudo-Riemannian expression for the volume form.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Whenever the Lagrangian is defined over the whole slit tangent bundle it can be useful to define [70] the *light cone* indicatrix  $\mathscr{I}^0$  or the *spacetime indicatrix*  $\mathscr{I}^+$  obtained for  $\mathscr{L} = 0$  or  $2\mathscr{L} = 1$ . The names follow from the signature of the induced metrics.

*1.2. Quotient and induced metrics.* This section introduces the notion of quotient metric, and of induced (angular) metric on the indicatrix. It is known material introduced here just to fix the notation and terminology.

The pair  $(\Omega_x, g)$  is a Lorentzian manifold. Let  $Q_x$  be the quotient of  $\Omega_x$  under the action of homotheties. The bundle  $\pi^Q : \Omega_x \to Q_x$  is principal, the group action on it being the group of dilations  $(\mathbb{R}, +)$ , where any homothety acts as  $y \mapsto e^s y$ , for some  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ . The one-parameter group of diffeomorphisms is generated by the Liouville vector field  $k : :T_x M \to TT_x M$ 

$$k(y) = y = y^{\mu} \partial/\partial y^{\mu}.$$

The positive homogeneity of the metric  $g_{\mu\nu}(x, sy) = g_{\mu\nu}(x, y)$  implies  $\mathcal{L}_k g = 2g$ , where  $\mathcal{L}$  is the Lie derivative, thus *k* is a Killing vector for the metric  $g/|2\mathscr{L}(x, y)|$ . The principal bundle  $\Omega_x$  can be endowed with a natural connection 1-form

$$\omega := \frac{g_y(y, \cdot)}{g_y(y, y)}.$$
(6)

Indeed,  $\omega$  satisfies the defining conditions of a connection 1-form on a principal bundle [46] (recall that  $\mathcal{L}_k k = 0$ )

$$\mathcal{L}_k \omega = 0, \qquad \omega(k) = 1$$

Let us define

$$F = \sqrt{2|\mathscr{L}|}.\tag{7}$$

The connection 1-form is integrable and the principal bundle is trivial because the connection is exact

$$\omega = d \log F.$$

It is also possible to define a metric on  $Q_x$  while working with vectors on  $T\Omega_x \simeq T_x M$ . This process is quite well known in relativity theory [27] and has been called *indicatorization* in the literature on Finsler spaces [61].

Let us consider the metric on  $\Omega_x$ 

$$h = \frac{1}{|2\mathscr{L}|} \left( g - \frac{g_y(y, \cdot) \otimes g_y(y, \cdot)}{g_y(y, y)} \right),\tag{8}$$

which in coordinates  $\{y^{\mu}\}$  reads

$$h_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{|2\mathscr{L}|} \left( \mathscr{L}_{,\mu,\nu} - \frac{1}{2\mathscr{L}} \mathscr{L}_{,\mu} \mathscr{L}_{,\nu} \right) = -\frac{1}{F} F_{,\mu,\nu}$$
(9)

then

$$h(y, \cdot) = 0, \quad h_{sy} = h_y, \qquad \text{for } s > 0,$$

where the last property can be written  $\mathcal{L}_k h = 0$ . Thus *h* depends only on the point of  $Q_x$  and annihilates the radial position vector *y*, so it defines a metric  $\tilde{h}$  on the quotient  $Q_x$  through

$$\tilde{h}_{\tilde{y}}(w_1, w_2) := h_y(W_1, W_2),$$

where  $w_1, w_2 \in T_{\tilde{y}}Q_x$ . Here  $y \in \Omega_x$  is any vector such that  $\pi^Q(y) = \tilde{y}$ , and  $W_1, W_2 \in T_x M$  are representatives of  $w_1, w_2 \in T_{\tilde{y}}Q_x$  in the sense that  $\pi^Q_*(W_i) = w_i, i = 1, 2$ . Since *h* is homogeneous of zero degree and annihilates *y*, the defining expression is well posed as it is independent of the choice of representatives  $(y, W_1, W_2)$ . Observe that  $h = \pi^{Q^*}\tilde{h}$  but in what follows we might not be too rigorous in distinguishing between *h* and  $\tilde{h}$ .

*Remark 1.* The metric (9) is also the *induced metric* on the indicatrix  $\mathscr{I}^-$  since there  $2\mathscr{L} = -1$ , and the vectors tangent to the indicatrix annihilate  $d\mathscr{L}$ , so over vectors tangent to the indicatrix  $h_{\mu\nu} = \mathscr{L}_{,\mu,\nu}$ . In Finsler geometry it is called *angular metric* but in Lorentz–Finsler theory the name *acceleration metric* seems more appropriate.

From (8) the metric g reads

$$g = |2\mathscr{L}| \big( -\omega \otimes \omega + h \big). \tag{10}$$

Since g is Lorentzian, h is Riemannian over  $\mathscr{I}^-$ . This decomposition can also be written in polar form

$$g = -\mathrm{d}F^2 + F^2h. \tag{11}$$

1.3. Riemannian Hessian metric on the timelike subbundle. The Lorentz–Finsler structure  $\mathscr{L}$  on  $\Omega$ , induces a Lorentzian metric on each fiber  $\Omega_x$  which is in one-to-one correspondence with a Riemannian Hessian structure on  $\Omega_x$  induced by a *m*-logarithmically homogeneous potential.

Let us construct this correspondence (compare with recent work in [26,34]). From the previous section, the metric on  $\Omega_x$  can be written

$$g = \mathrm{d}^2 \mathscr{L} = \frac{1}{2\mathscr{L}} (\mathrm{d}\mathscr{L})^2 \oplus (-2\mathscr{L})h = -\mathrm{d}F^2 + F^2h, \quad \mathscr{L} = -\frac{1}{2}F^2.$$

This Lorentz metric is positive homogeneous of degree two. If we look for a scale invariant complete Riemannian metric on  $\Omega_x$  it is natural to consider the Hessian (Kähler affine) metric (m = n + 1)

$$\hat{g} = m \Big[ \frac{1}{(2\mathscr{L})^2} \, (\mathrm{d}\mathscr{L})^2 \oplus h \Big] = m \big[ (\mathrm{d}\log F)^2 \oplus h \big] = \mathrm{d}^2 \log V \tag{12}$$

where

$$V = \left(\frac{-2\mathscr{L}}{m}\right)^{-\frac{m}{2}} = \left(\frac{F}{\sqrt{m}}\right)^{-m}.$$
(13)

Here the denominator has been chosen so as to get Eq. (15). The function log V is the Kähler potential [18]. It is (-m)-logarithmically homogeneous, namely

$$\log V(sy) = \log V(y) - m \log s.$$

Conversely, let  $\log V$  be (-m)-logarithmically homogeneous with complete positive definite Hessian metric on  $\Omega_x$  for every *x*, then it is possible to define a Lorentz–Finsler structure on  $\Omega$  inverting (13).

Writing g in place of h in (12)

$$\hat{g} = m \Big[ \frac{2}{(2\mathscr{L})^2} \left( \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L} \right)^2 \oplus \frac{1}{-2\mathscr{L}} g \Big], \tag{14}$$

and using the rank one update of the determinant we get

$$\det \hat{g}_y = -(\det g_y)V^2,\tag{15}$$

thus

$$I_{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\mu}} \log \left( V^{-2} \det \frac{\partial^2 \log V}{\partial y^{\alpha} \partial y^{\beta}} \right).$$
(16)

By positive homogeneity of degree -1 of  $I_{\alpha}$ , this identity is equivalent to

$$K_{\alpha\beta} = \hat{K}_{\alpha\beta} + 2\hat{g}_{\mu\nu}.$$
(17)

Here we have introduced the Kähler Ricci tensor of a Kähler affine metric (it is not the usual Ricci tensor) for both the Lorentzian and Riemannian metrics

$$K_{\alpha\beta} := -\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^{\alpha} \partial y^{\beta}} \log |\det g_y| = -2 \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\alpha}} I_{\beta}, \qquad (18)$$

$$\hat{K}_{\alpha\beta} := -\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^{\alpha} \partial y^{\beta}} \log \det \hat{g}_y.$$
<sup>(19)</sup>

This definition is inspired by analogous definitions in Kähler geometry [18]. The connection with complex Kähler geometry can be made more precise introducing a tube domain, but this approach will not be pursued here. The Hessian metric  $\hat{g}$  is Kähler–Einstein if

$$\hat{K}_{\alpha\beta} = \hat{\kappa}(x, y)\hat{g}_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(20)

Observe that both  $\hat{K}_{\alpha\beta}$  and  $\hat{g}_{\alpha\beta}$  are Hessian metrics, thus their vertical derivative is a symmetric tensor. A simple observation by Knebelman [45], originally conceived for Finsler metrics but perfectly valid for Hessian metrics, shows that  $\hat{\kappa}$  is actually independent of y, thus the previous equation is equivalent to

$$-\log \det \hat{g}_y = \frac{\hat{\kappa}}{2} \log V^2 + a + b_\alpha y^\alpha,$$

for some  $a, b_{\alpha}$  independent of y. However, (15) shows that  $\log \det \hat{g}_{\nu}$  and  $\log V^2$  are (-2m)-logarithmically homogeneous, thus  $b_{\alpha} = 0$  and  $\hat{\kappa} = -2$ , namely det  $\hat{g}_{\gamma} =$  $e^{-a(x)}V^2$ . The comparison of this equation with (15) shows that det  $g_y$  does not depend on y. Conversely, if det  $g_y$  does not depend on y then (20) holds true, just use Eq. (17).

We conclude

**Theorem 1.** The complete, Riemannian, Hessian metric  $\hat{g}$  on  $\Omega_x$  is Kähler–Einstein if and only if the mean Cartan torsion vanishes:  $I_{\alpha} = 0$ . In this case  $\hat{k} = -2$  and

$$\det \frac{\partial^2 \log V}{\partial y^{\alpha} \partial y^{\beta}} = \alpha V^2, \qquad \alpha = -\det g_{\alpha\beta}.$$

If this equation is satisfied,  $\hat{g}$  is called the *Monge–Ampère* or the *Cheng-Yau metric* of the cone  $\Omega_x$ .

We have a similar result for the Einstein condition,  $K_{\alpha\beta} = \kappa(x, y)g_{\alpha\beta}$ , on the Lorentzian metric (compare [41, Sect. 5]).

**Theorem 2.** The Lorentzian Hessian metric g on  $\Omega_x$  is Kähler–Einstein if and only if the mean Cartan torsion vanishes:  $I_{\alpha} = 0$ . In this case  $\kappa = 0$ .

*Proof.* Once again Knebelman observation implies that  $\kappa$  does not depend on y. Thus multiplying the Einstein condition by  $y^{\alpha}$  and using the positive homogeneity of degree -1 of  $I_{\alpha}$ ,  $2I_{\beta} = \kappa(x)y_{\beta}$ . Applying  $y^{\gamma}\frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\gamma}}$  to both sides gives  $-2I_{\beta} = \kappa y_{\beta}$  thus  $I_{\alpha} = 0$ .  $\Box$ 

#### 2. Preliminaries on Affine Spheres and Indicatrices

Let us consider a pair  $(E, \omega)$  where *E* is an affine space modeled over a *n*+1-dimensional vector space *V* and  $\omega$  is a non-trivial alternating multilinear *n*+1-form over *V*, sometimes called *determinant* (not to be confused with the determinant of an endomorphism). In short we are considering an affine space with a translational invariant notion of oriented volume.

Next let  $f: N \to E$  be a  $C^3$  immersion where N is a n-dimensional manifold. The manifold N is termed hypersurface and f is called hypersurface immersion. Let  $\xi: N \to TE, p \mapsto \xi_p$ , be a vector field over f(N) and transverse to it. We have for  $p \in N$ ,

$$T_{f(p)}E = f_*(T_pN) \oplus \langle \xi_p \rangle.$$

Furthermore, on *E* we have a natural derivative *D* due to its affine structure. Let *X*, *Y* be vector fields on *N* (so  $f_*(X)$  and  $f_*(Y)$  are tangent to f(N)). The next formulas are obtained splitting the left-hand side by means of the direction determined by  $\xi$ 

$$D_{f_*(X)}f_*(Y) = f_*(\nabla_X Y) + h(X, Y)\xi,$$
 (Gauss) (21)

$$D_{f_*(X)}\xi = -f_*(S(X)) + \tau(X)\xi. \quad (\text{Weingarten})$$
(22)

They define a torsion-less connection  $\nabla$ , a symmetric bilinear form *h* (the affine metric), an endomorphism *S* of the tangent bundle *TN* (the shape operator) and a one-form  $\tau$  over *N*. These objects satisfy some differential equalities (Gauss, Codazzi) which the reader can find in [74, Theor. 2.1].

Under a change of transverse field

$$\bar{\xi} = \phi \xi + f_*(Z) \tag{23}$$

these objects change as follows [74, Prop. 2.5]

$$\bar{h} = \frac{1}{\phi} h, \tag{24}$$

$$\bar{\nabla}_X Y = \nabla_X Y - \frac{1}{\phi} h(X, Y) Z, \qquad (25)$$

$$\bar{\tau} = \tau + \frac{1}{\phi} h(Z, \cdot) + d \log |\phi|, \qquad (26)$$

$$\bar{S} = \phi S - \nabla Z + \bar{\tau}(\cdot)Z. \tag{27}$$

Observe that *h* is definite if f(N) is the boundary of a convex set. The change of transverse field redefines *h* through multiplication by a conformal factor, thus the non-degeneracy of *h* including the absolute value of its signature is really a property of *N*. In what follows we shall assume that *N* is non-degenerate. With some abuse of notation we shall often identify *N* with f(N) and *p* with f(p) in the next formulas. This is not source of confusion when *f* is an embedding.

The affine metric induces a *n*-form  $\omega_h$  on *N*. Let  $\{e_i, i = 1, ..., n\}$  be a basis of  $T_pN$  such that  $(\xi, f_*(e_1), ..., f_*(e_n))$  is  $\omega$ -positively oriented. Defined  $h_{ij} = h(e_i, e_j)$  let

$$\omega_h := \sqrt{|\det h_{ij}|} \,\theta^1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \theta^n,$$

where  $\{\theta^i, i = 1, ..., n\}$  is the dual basis of  $\{e_i\}$ .

Blaschke has shown that it is possible to select a special transverse field on every non-degenerate hypersurface. The *Blaschke* or *affine* normal is determined up to a sign by the conditions

(i)  $\tau = 0$ , (equiaffine condition)

(ii) 
$$\omega_h = f^*(i_{\xi}\omega).$$

If *h* is definite the sign of  $\xi$  is fixed so as to make *h* positive definite. If *h* is Lorentzian up to a sign, it is fixed in such a way that the signature is (-, +, ..., +). Given the Blaschke normal the formulas of Gauss and Weingarten determine a Blaschke metric, shape operator and torsion-less connection. The scalar  $H = \frac{1}{n} \operatorname{tr} S$  is called *affine mean curvature*. It can be shown that the equiaffine condition is equivalent to  $\nabla [f^*(i_{\xi}\omega)] = 0$  (see the next Proposition 1 or [74, Prop. 1.4]).

So far we have given a traditional introduction to affine differential geometry. Actually, it is interesting to notice that the affine normal can be defined already for the weaker structure given by  $(E, |\omega|)$  where  $|\omega|$  is a volume form rather than a *n*+1-form. It is sufficient to replace (ii) with

(ii')  $|\omega_h| = |f^*(i_{\xi}\omega)|$ , (the affine volume equals the induced volume)

where  $\omega$  is any local representative of  $|\omega|$ . In fact (ii) is not able, in any case, to fix the sign of  $\xi$ .

The Pick cubic form is a symmetric tensor on N defined by

$$c(X, Y, Z) = \frac{1}{2} [(\nabla_X h)(Y, Z) + \tau(X)h(Y, Z)],$$
(28)

where  $X, Y, Z \in T_p N$  and where the symmetry follows from the Codazzi equations. Actually, the usual definition from affine differential geometry does not include the 1/2 factor. We included it for consistency with a related Finslerian definition (cf. Theorem 6). Let  $c^{\sharp}$  be the tensor on N defined by  $h(X, c^{\sharp}(Y, Z)) = c(X, Y, Z)$ , from Eq. (28) it follows that the Levi–Civita connection of h is given by

$$\nabla_X^h Y = \nabla_X Y + c^{\sharp}(X, Y) - \frac{1}{2} \tau(X) Y.$$
<sup>(29)</sup>

We shall need

**Proposition 1.** On N we have

$$\nabla_X \omega_h = \{ tr[Y \mapsto c^{\sharp}(X, Y)] - n\tau(X)/2 \} \omega_h, \tag{30}$$

$$\nabla_X f^*(i_{\xi}\omega) = \tau(X) f^*(i_{\xi}\omega). \tag{31}$$

*Proof.* Let  $E_X$  be the endomorphism  $Y \mapsto c^{\sharp}(X, Y) - \frac{1}{2}\tau(X)Y$ 

$$(\nabla_X \omega_h)(Y_1, \dots, Y_n) = \partial_X \omega_h(Y_1, \dots, Y_n) - \sum_i \omega_h(\dots, \nabla_X Y_i, \dots)$$
  
=  $\partial_X \{ \omega_h(Y_1, \dots, Y_n) \} - \sum_i \omega_h(\dots, \nabla_X^h Y_i, \dots)$   
+  $\sum_i \omega_h(\dots, E_X(Y_i), \dots)$   
=  $(\nabla_X^h \omega_h)(Y_1, \dots, Y_n) + (\operatorname{tr} E_X) \omega_h(Y_1, \dots, Y_n).$ 

Concerning the second equation

$$\nabla_X f^*(i_{\xi}\omega) = f^*(D_{f_*(X)}i_{\xi}\omega) = f^*(i_{\xi}D_{f_*(X)}\omega + i_{D_{f_*(X)}\xi}\omega)$$

Since  $\omega$  is translational invariant  $D_{f_*(X)}\omega = 0$ , thus Eq. (31) follows from (22).

Observe that the equiaffine condition is preserved redefining  $\xi \to \beta \xi$  where  $\beta \neq 0$  is a constant while  $\omega_h$  and  $f^*(i_{\xi}\omega)$  can be made coincident with a suitable choice of  $\beta$  provided they differ by a multiplicative constant. Furthermore, in the equiaffine case they differ by a multiplicative constant iff  $\nabla \omega_h = 0$  iff

(iii) tr 
$$[Y \mapsto c^{\sharp}(\cdot, Y)] = 0$$
 (apolarity condition)

Thus the transverse field is Blaschke's up to a constant provided (i) and (iii) hold.

If the lines on *E* generated by the Blaschke normals to *N* meet at a point *o*, *N* is said to be a proper *affine sphere* with center *o*, while if they are parallel it is an improper affine sphere [74, Def. 3.3]. If S = HI then *H* is constant over *N* and *N* is an affine sphere, proper if  $H \neq 0$  and improper if H = 0. The converse also holds: if *N* is an affine sphere  $S \propto I$ . An affine sphere is called elliptic, parabolic or hyperbolic depending on the sign of *H*, respectively positive, zero or negative. For a proper affine sphere if  $y \in N$  then  $\xi(y) = -H(y - o)$ .

Now suppose to have been given a pair  $(M, |\omega|)$  where M is a n+1-dimensional manifold and  $|\omega|$  is a volume form. Then  $(T_x M, |\omega||_x)$  is a pair given by an affine space (actually a vector space) and a translational invariant volume form. Thus we can introduce, up to a sign, the affine normal to any non-degenerate immersions  $N_x$  in  $T_x M$ . However,  $T_x M$  is not an affine space but a vector space thus there is a point which plays a special role: the origin. The initial structure  $(M, |\omega|)$  naturally suggests to consider distributions  $x \mapsto N_x$  of proper affine spheres with center the origin of the tangent spaces  $T_x M$ .

*Remark 2.* Let  $\nabla$  and *h* be the connection and affine metric induced by the Blaschke transverse field (one speaks of Blaschke structure), and let  $Ric^{\nabla}$  be the Ricci tensor of the connection  $\nabla$  on *N*. A characterization of the affine sphere condition is given by

**Proposition 2.** *N* is an affine sphere if and only if the Blaschke structure satisfies  $Ric^{\nabla} \propto h$ , in which case  $Ric^{\nabla} = H(n-1)h$ , where *H* is the affine mean curvature of the affine sphere.

We remark that the condition involved in this statement is not the usual Einstein condition since in general  $\nabla$  does not coincide with  $\nabla^h$ .

*Proof.* For any Blaschke structure [74, Prop. 3.4]

$$Ric^{\vee}(Y, Z) = \operatorname{tr} S h(Y, Z) - h(S(Y), Z).$$

The conclusion is easily reached upon taking the trace.  $\Box$ 

The next result, which will turn out to be useful in the next section, does not seem to have been previously noticed or stressed in the literature. Let m be the traceless part of the cubic form c (where the trace is taken with h), namely

$$m(W, X, Y) = c(W, X, Y) - \frac{1}{n+2} \{ \operatorname{tr} c(W) h(X, Y) + \operatorname{tr} c(Y) h(W, X) + \operatorname{tr} c(X) h(Y, W) \}$$

we have

**Theorem 3.** The tensor defined by  $h(X, m^{\sharp}(Y, Z)) = m(X, Y, Z)$  does not depend on the transverse field used to define c and h. It coincides with the (one index raised) Pick cubic form  $c_B^{\sharp}$  for the Blaschke normal.

*Proof.* Let us consider a change of transverse field parametrized as in (11). Using the mentioned transformation rules and the corrected (Finslerian) definition of cubic form we arrive at

$$\begin{split} \bar{c}(W, X, Y) &= \frac{1}{\phi} \, c(W, X, Y) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\phi^2} \{ h(Z, W) h(X, Y) + h(Z, Y) h(W, X) + h(Z, X) h(Y, W) \} \end{split}$$

taking the trace

$$\bar{\operatorname{tr}}\bar{c}(W) = \operatorname{tr}c(W) + \frac{n+2}{2\phi}h(Z,W)$$
(32)

From here we arrive at  $\overline{m}(W, X, Y) = \frac{1}{\phi}m(W, X, Y)$ , and the first statement follows from (24). The Pick cubic form for the Blaschke normal is traceless (apolarity condition), thus  $m^{\sharp}$  coincides with  $c_{B}^{\sharp}$ .  $\Box$ 

2.1. Proper affine spheres. Any embedding on a vector space which does not pass through the origin and which is transverse to the position vector at every point is called *centroaffine* [74]. It is instructive to prove the next known result on centroaffine embeddings making particular attention to the role of the volume form. The parametrization of the affine sphere there introduced is due to Gigena [30,58]. We shall see later on that v will be interpreted as observed velocity, while u(v) will be the observer Lagrangian of our theory.

**Theorem 4.** Let  $\{e_{\alpha}\}$  be a basis of  $(V, |\omega|)$ , let  $\rho = |\omega|(e_0, \ldots, e_n) > 0$ , and let  $y^{\alpha}$  be the induced coordinates on the vector space V. Let v be inhomogeneous projective coordinates on  $\{y \in V : y^0 > 0\}$  so that

$$y = (y^0, y) = -\frac{1}{u}(1, v).$$
 (33)

Let N be a centroaffine hypersurface with respect to the position vector with origin  $p \in E$ , then identifying V with E - p, let

$$f: \boldsymbol{v} \to -\frac{1}{u(\boldsymbol{v})} (1, \boldsymbol{v}), \tag{34}$$

be its local hypersurface immersion. Let  $c \neq 0$ , then relative to the transverse vector field  $\xi := -cy$  the affine metric is

$$h = h_{ij} dv^i dv^j = \frac{u_{ij}}{cu} dv^i dv^j, \qquad (35)$$

the connection coefficients are  $(\nabla)_{ij}^k = -\frac{1}{u}(u_i\delta_j^k + u_j\delta_i^k)$ , the shape operator is S = cI, and  $\tau = 0$ . The transverse field  $\xi$  is the Blaschke normal and hence N is a proper affine sphere with affine mean curvature H = c and center p if and only if

$$\det u_{ij} = \epsilon \rho^2 \left(\frac{H}{u}\right)^{n+2}.$$
(36)

where  $\epsilon$  is the sign of the determinant of  $h_{ij}$ , i.e. the parity of the negative signature of h (thus  $\epsilon = 1$  if h is positive definite and  $\epsilon = -1$  if Lorentzian). In particular, in the positive definite case

$$h_{ij} = \left(\frac{\rho^2}{\det u_{ij}}\right)^{\frac{1}{n+2}} \frac{1}{u^2} u_{ij}.$$
(37)

*Remark 3.* If  $E = T_x M$  and p is not the origin of E then  $\{y^{\alpha}\}$  are not canonical coordinates on the tangent bundle at x.

*Proof.* Let us observe that (here  $\tilde{e}_i$  is the canonical basis of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ )

$$f_*(\tilde{e}_j) = D_{f_*(\tilde{e}_j)} y = \partial_j \{ -\frac{1}{u(v)} (1, v) \} = -\frac{u_j}{u} y - \frac{1}{u} e_j,$$
(38)

where  $\partial_i$  is a shorthand for  $\partial/\partial v^j$ . Thus

$$D_{f_{*}(\tilde{e}_{i})}f_{*}(\tilde{e}_{j}) = D_{f_{*}(\tilde{e}_{i})}D_{f_{*}(\tilde{e}_{j})}y$$
  
=  $\partial_{i}\partial_{j}\{-\frac{1}{u(v)}(1, v)\}$   
=  $\frac{u_{ij}}{u}(-y) + \frac{u_{j}}{u^{2}}e_{i} + \frac{u_{i}}{u^{2}}e_{j} + 2\frac{u_{i}u_{j}}{u^{2}}y$   
=  $-\frac{u_{i}}{u}f_{*}(\tilde{e}_{j}) - \frac{u_{j}}{u}f_{*}(\tilde{e}_{i}) + \frac{u_{ij}}{cu}(-cy).$ 

The first two terms are tangent to N, thus the last one gives the affine metric. From this same expression it is easy to read the connection coefficients. The statements concerning S and  $\tau$  are trivial since  $D_{f_*(X)}y = f_*(X)$ .

Now using Eq. (38) and  $\xi = -cy$  we observe that

$$\begin{split} |f^*i_{\xi}\omega|(\tilde{e}_1,\ldots,\tilde{e}_n) &= |\omega|(\xi,f_*(\tilde{e}_1),\ldots,f_*(\tilde{e}_n)) \\ &= |(-\frac{1}{u})^n \omega(\xi,e_1,\ldots,e_n)| \\ &= |(-\frac{1}{u})^n (-c) \,\omega(y^0 e_0,e_1,\ldots,e_n)| \\ &= |(-\frac{1}{u})^{n+1} (-c) \,\omega(e_0,e_1,\ldots,e_n)| \\ &= \rho |(-\frac{1}{u})^{n+1} (-c)|, \end{split}$$

while

$$|\omega_h|(\tilde{e}_1,\ldots,\tilde{e}_n)=\sqrt{|\det h_{ij}|}=\sqrt{\epsilon \det h_{ij}},$$

The vector  $\xi$  is the Blaschke normal and hence N is an affine sphere with affine mean curvature H = c if and only if  $|\omega_h| = |f^* i_{\xi} \omega|$  which reads det  $u_{ij} = \epsilon \rho^2 (\frac{c}{u})^{n+2}$ .  $\Box$ 

*Remark 4.* Let us consider an affine sphere on *E* with center *p*. Observe that the rescaled affine sphere  $f \rightarrow f' = \lambda(f - p) + p$ ,  $\lambda > 0$  is determined by the function  $u' = u/\lambda$  and from Eq. (36) it follows that it is still an affine sphere with affine mean curvature  $H' = \lambda^{-\frac{2n+2}{n+2}} H$ .

Without loss of generality we can study just affine spheres for which H = -1, 0, 1 since the others are obtained through rescaling. In the proper case the transverse vector becomes either the position vector with origin p or its opposite.

*Remark 5.* Suppose that  $N \subset E$  is an affine sphere with mean curvature H for  $(E, |\omega|)$  and suppose to change the volume form to  $|\check{\omega}| = \alpha |\omega|, \alpha > 0$ . With the notation of Theorem (4),  $\check{\rho} = \alpha \rho$ . Equation (36) clarifies that N is still an affine sphere with mean curvature  $\check{H}$  where

$$\check{\rho}^2 \check{H}^{n+2} = \rho^2 H^{n+2}.$$
(39)

Thus the concept of elliptic or hyperbolic affine sphere makes sense irrespective of the volume form and hence is well defined just on an affine space, while it is necessary to specify a volume form to talk about affine mean curvature H of the affine sphere. In the proper case one can choose  $\rho$  so as to get |H| = 1.

The next result is the crucial step which relates the affine sphere distributions with measures over M.

**Corollary 1.** Given a proper affine sphere  $N \subset E$  there is a unique translational invariant volume form on E such that |H| = 1.

Similarly, given a manifold M, and a point dependent distribution of proper affine spheres  $x \mapsto N_x \subset T_x M$  (not necessarily centered at the origin of  $T_x M$ ), there is a unique volume form on M for which the affine spheres satisfy |H| = 1.

Of course the regularity of the dependence of  $N_x$  on x will be related to that of the volume form on x.

The metric (37) was first obtained by Loewner and Nirenberg [57] while searching for projective invariant metrics on convex sets. Let p be the origin of  $T_x M$ . Let  $\{e_\alpha\}$ 

be any basis of  $T_x M$  and let  $e_{\tilde{\alpha}} = A^{\beta}_{\tilde{\alpha}} e_{\beta}$  be another basis then the coordinates  $(\tilde{u}, v^{\tilde{i}})$  are related to  $(u, v^i)$  as follows (here  $A^{\beta}_{\tilde{\alpha}} A^{\tilde{\alpha}}_{\gamma} = \delta^{\beta}_{\gamma}$ , namely we are using a convention common in mathematical relativity in which the distinction between coordinates in made at the level of indices)

$$-\frac{1}{\tilde{u}} = A^{\tilde{0}}_{j} \left(-\frac{v^{j}}{u}\right) + A^{\tilde{0}}_{0} \left(-\frac{1}{u}\right),$$
$$-\frac{v^{\tilde{i}}}{\tilde{u}} = A^{\tilde{i}}_{j} \left(-\frac{v^{j}}{u}\right) + A^{\tilde{i}}_{0} \left(-\frac{1}{u}\right),$$

which can be rewritten including also the transformation of the density under coordinate changes

$$\tilde{u} = u \Big[ A_{j}^{\tilde{0}}(x) v^{j} + A_{0}^{\tilde{0}}(x) \Big]^{-1},$$
(40)

$$v^{\tilde{i}} = \left[A^{\tilde{i}}_{\ j}(x)v^{j} + A^{\tilde{i}}_{\ 0}(x)\right] \left[A^{\tilde{0}}_{\ j}(x)v^{j} + A^{\tilde{0}}_{\ 0}(x)\right]^{-1},\tag{41}$$

$$\tilde{\rho} = \rho \left( \det A^{\tilde{\alpha}}_{\ \beta}(x) \right)^{-1}. \tag{42}$$

In this expression we have made explicit the dependence of the matrix A on the point  $x \in M$ . If both frames are holonomic then  $A_{\beta}^{\tilde{\alpha}} = \partial x^{\tilde{\alpha}} / \partial x^{\beta}$ .

Since the metric (35) with  $h_{ij}$  given by (37) and the Monge–Ampère equation (36) hold irrespective of the starting basis  $\{e_{\alpha}\}$  chosen, these objects are invariant under the projective changes (40)–(42).

2.2. Improper affine spheres. In this section we introduce convenient coordinates for improper affine spheres [58]. They are chosen so as to simplify the Monge–Ampère equation which describes these hypersurfaces. Let us notice that a (connected) hypersurface  $N \subset E$  which is transverse to a direction  $e_0 \in V$  is a graph over a hyperplane transverse to  $e_0$ . We have

**Theorem 5.** Let  $\{e_{\alpha}\}$  be a basis of  $(V, |\omega|)$ , let  $\rho = |\omega|(e_0, \ldots, e_n) > 0$ , let  $y^{\alpha}$  be the induced coordinates on the vector space V and let us denote  $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{y}$ . Let N be a hypersurface which is a graph  $f: \mathbf{v} \to (-u(\mathbf{v}), \mathbf{v})$  over the hyperplane  $y^0 = 0$ . Let  $c \neq 0$ , then relative to the transverse vector field  $\xi := -c(1, \mathbf{0})$  the affine metric is

$$h = h_{ij} dv^i dv^j = \frac{1}{c} u_{ij} dv^i dv^j, \qquad (43)$$

the connection coefficients are  $(\nabla)_{ij}^k = 0$  and S = 0,  $\tau = 0$ . The transverse field  $\xi$  is the Blaschke normal and hence N is an improper affine sphere if and only if

$$\det u_{ij} = \epsilon \rho^2 c^{n+2},\tag{44}$$

where  $\epsilon$  is the sign of the determinant of  $h_{ij}$  (the parity of the negative signature of h).

*Proof.* Let us observe that (here  $\tilde{e}_i$  is the canonical basis of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ )

$$f_*(\tilde{e}_j) = D_{f_*(\tilde{e}_j)} y = \partial_j (-u(\boldsymbol{v}), \boldsymbol{v}) = -u_j e_0 + e_j, \tag{45}$$

where  $\partial_i$  is a shorthand for  $\partial/\partial v^j$ . Thus

$$D_{f_*(\tilde{e}_i)}f_*(\tilde{e}_j) = D_{f_*(\tilde{e}_i)}D_{f_*(\tilde{e}_j)}y = \partial_i\partial_j(-u, v) = -u_{ij}e_0 = \frac{1}{c}u_{ij}\xi.$$

There is no term tangent to N thus the connection coefficients vanish. The statements concerning S and  $\tau$  are trivial since  $D_{f_*(X)}e_0 = 0$ .

Now using Eq. (45) and  $\xi = -ce_0$  we observe that

$$|f^*i_{\xi}\omega|(\tilde{e}_1,\ldots,\tilde{e}_n)| = |\omega|(\xi, f_*(\tilde{e}_1),\ldots,f_*(\tilde{e}_n))| = |c\omega(e_0,e_1,\ldots,e_n)| = |c\rho|,$$

while

$$|\omega_h|(\tilde{e}_1,\ldots,\tilde{e}_n)=\sqrt{|\det h_{ij}|}=\sqrt{\epsilon \det h_{ij}},$$

The vector  $\xi$  is the Blaschke normal and hence *N* is an improper affine sphere if and only if  $|\omega_h| = |f^*i_{\xi}\omega|$  which reads det  $u_{ij} = \epsilon \rho^2 c^{n+2}$ .  $\Box$ 

2.3. Centroaffine embeddings and Finsler indicatrices. In this section we obtain some results on the relationship between the Finsler metric at a given point  $x \in M$  and the affine metric of the indicatrix.

Preliminarly, let us observe that the indicatrix is a centroaffine hypersurface with respect to the origin of  $T_x M$  because it is transverse to the position vector y. Indeed, by positive homogeneity

$$\mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}(\mathbf{y}) = \frac{\partial\mathscr{L}}{\partial y^{\alpha}} \, y^{\alpha} = 2\mathscr{L} = -1.$$

For the first statement of the next theorem see also [6,50], for the second statement see also [73, Prop. 4.1].

**Theorem 6.** The vertical Finsler metric induces on the indicatrix  $\mathscr{I}^-$  a metric h which coincides with the affine metric for the transverse field  $\xi = y$ . Thus, on  $\Omega_x$  Eqs. (9) and (11) hold

$$g = -\mathrm{d}F^2 + F^2 h, \quad h = -F^{-1}\mathrm{d}^2 F, \quad F = \sqrt{2|\mathscr{L}|}.$$
 (46)

The Pick cubic form for the transverse field  $\xi$  is the restriction to the indicatrix of the Cartan torsion, that is  $c = f^*C$ . The Pick cubic form for the Blaschke transverse field is the restriction to the indicatrix of the traceless part of the Cartan torsion:  $c_B^{\sharp} = m^{\sharp} = (f^*M)^{\sharp}$ .

The indicatrix  $\mathscr{I}_x^-$  is an affine sphere with center at the origin of  $T_x M$  iff the mean Cartan torsion vanishes on it (and hence on  $\Omega_x$ ). In this case with respect to the translational invariant volume form  $|\omega| = \sqrt{|\det g_{\alpha\beta}|} d^{n+1} y$  (i.e.  $\rho = \sqrt{|\det g_{\alpha\beta}|}$ ) the affine mean curvature of the indicatrix is such that H = -1, thus in projective coordinates

$$\det u_{ij} = |\det g_{\alpha\beta}| \left(-\frac{1}{u}\right)^{n+2}.$$
(47)

Observe that a zero mean Cartan torsion not only makes the indicatrix an affine sphere but also, by Eq. (4) makes  $|\omega|$  translational invariant and hence makes it possible to ask for the affine mean curvature of the affine sphere with respect to this volume form. Also notice that *c* and *C* provide the same information since  $C(y, \cdot, \cdot) = 0$ . *Remark 6.* Suppose that the Finsler Lagrangian is defined over the whole slit tangent bundle. Then a completely analogous theorem could be given for the spacetime indicatrix  $\mathscr{I}^+$  where, however,  $\xi = -y$ ,  $g = dF^2 + F^2h$ ,  $h = F^{-1}d^2F$ , the affine metric would be Lorentzian and the affine mean curvature would be H = 1.

*Proof.* Let us contract  $d\mathscr{L}$  with the Gauss equation  $D_X Y = \nabla_X Y + h(X, Y)\xi$  where  $X, Y \in T\mathscr{I}_x^-$  (here with some abuse of notation we identify X with  $f_*(X)$  where f is the embedding of the indicatrix) and use positive homogeneity

$$d\mathscr{L}(D_XY) = \frac{\partial\mathscr{L}}{\partial y^{\alpha}} \left( X^{\beta} \frac{\partial Y^{\alpha}}{\partial y^{\beta}} \right) = X^{\beta} \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\beta}} \left( \frac{\partial\mathscr{L}}{\partial y^{\alpha}} Y^{\alpha} \right) - X^{\beta} Y^{\alpha} \frac{\partial^2 \mathscr{L}}{\partial y^{\alpha} \partial y^{\beta}} = -g_y(X, Y),$$

thus

$$-g_{y}(X, Y) = d\mathscr{L}(D_{X}Y) = h(X, Y)d\mathscr{L}(y)$$
$$= 2\mathscr{L}(x, y)h(X, Y)$$
$$= -h(X, Y).$$

This calculation proves the first statement. By positive homogeneity the indicatrix is *g*-orthogonal to  $\xi$  indeed if  $X \in T\mathscr{I}_x^-$ ,  $g(X,\xi) = d\mathscr{L}(X) = 0$ . The Eqs. (9) and (11) follow from the just established equality between the affine metric and the induced metric (hence the same symbol *h*).

Recalling that the induced metric is the affine metric we have for every  $X, Y, Z \in T \mathscr{I}_x^-$ 

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla_Z h(X, Y) &= \nabla_Z [h(X, Y)] - h(\nabla_Z X, Y) - h(X, \nabla_Z Y) \\ &= D_Z [g(X, Y)] - g(\nabla_Z X, Y) - g(X, \nabla_Z Y) \\ &= D_Z [g(X, Y)] - g(D_Z X - h(X, Z)\xi, Y) \\ &- g(X, D_Z Y - h(X, Z)\xi) \\ &= D_Z [g(X, Y)] - g(D_Z X, Y) - h(X, D_Z Y) \\ &= (D_Z g)(X, Y) \end{aligned}$$

Since the immersion is centroaffine,  $\tau = 0$ , thus we have the equality between Pick cubic form and pullbacked Cartan torsion [observe that the 1/2 factor must be present in Eq. (28) since it is included in Eq. (3)].

Let  $y \in \mathscr{I}_x^-$  and let  $\{X_i, i = 1, ..., n\}$  be a *h*-orthogonal basis at  $T_y \mathscr{I}_x^-$ , then since  $g_y(y, y) = 2\mathscr{L}(x, y) = -1, g_y(y, X_i) = 0$ ,

$$tr[Y \mapsto c^{\sharp}(Z, Y)] = \sum_{i} c(Z, X_{i}, X_{i})$$
  
=  $(g_{y}(y, y))^{-1}C(Z, y, y) + \sum_{i} C(Z, X_{i}, X_{i})$   
=  $f^{*}(tr_{g}C)(Z) = I(f_{*}(Z)),$ 

where I is the mean Cartan torsion. From here the traceless part of the Pick cubic form, namely the Pick cubic form for the Blaschke normal c.f. Theorem 3, is easily inferred to be the pullback of the traceless part of the Cartan torsion.

If the mean Cartan torsion vanishes then the apolarity condition holds thus the transverse field *y* is Blaschke's up to a constant. But these normals generate lines which meet

at the origin of  $T_x M$  thus  $\mathscr{I}^-$  is an affine sphere. Conversely, if  $\mathscr{I}^-$  is an affine sphere with center the origin of  $T_x M$  then  $\xi = -Hy$ ,  $\operatorname{sgn}(H) = -1$ , where the value of H depends on the choice of volume form (Remark 5). Since y coincides with the Blaschke normal up to a constant, the apolarity condition holds. As for every Z,  $I(f_*(Z)) = 0$  and I(y) = 0 we have I = 0.

Now, suppose that the volume form is  $\sqrt{|\det g_{\alpha\beta}|} d^{n+1}y$ . Let  $\{\chi^i, i = 1, ..., n\}$  be a coordinate system on  $\mathscr{I}^-$  and let  $\chi^0 = \mathscr{L}$ . These definitions determine a coordinate system  $\chi^{\alpha'}$  on the cone generated by  $\mathscr{I}^-$  in such a way that the lines  $\chi^i = cnst$  pass through the origin. The position vector on the indicatrix reads  $y = -\partial/\partial\chi^0$  and Eq. (46) reads

$$g_{\alpha'\beta'}d\chi^{\alpha'}d\chi^{\beta'} = \frac{1}{2\chi^0}(d\chi^0)^2 - 2\chi^0 h_{ij}d\chi^i d\chi^j.$$
(48)

Thus  $\omega = \sqrt{|\det g_{\alpha'\beta'}|} d\chi^0 \wedge d\chi^1 \wedge \cdots \wedge d\chi^n$ , and since  $\{\xi, \partial/\partial \chi_1, \dots, \partial/\partial \chi_n\}$  has the  $\omega$ -orientation given by  $\operatorname{sgn}(H) = -1$ , we have

$$\omega_h = -\sqrt{|\det h_{ij}|} \, d\chi^1 \wedge \cdots \wedge d\chi^n,$$

and finally

$$i_{\xi}\omega = i_{-Hy}\omega = H\sqrt{|\det g_{\alpha'\beta'}|} \, d\chi^1 \wedge \cdots \wedge d\chi^n = -H|2\chi^0|^{\frac{n-1}{2}}\omega_h.$$

Since on the indicatrix  $|2\chi^0| = 1$  we conclude that H = -1.  $\Box$ 

*Remark* 7. Obviously Theorem 6 admits a reformulation for positive definite g, it is sufficient to take the transverse field  $\xi = -y$ .

We have established that the condition  $I_{\alpha} = 0$  characterizes those (Lorentz-)Finsler spaces for which the indicatrix is an affine sphere centered at the origin. One might ask what is the Finslerian characterization of an indicatrix which is an affine sphere arbitrarily centered. This question is answered by the next theorem

**Theorem 7.** Let  $\{y^{\alpha}\}$  be canonical tangent coordinates on  $T_x M$ , where  $(M, \mathcal{L})$  is a Lorentz–Finsler space and  $\overline{\Omega}$  is the cone domain of  $\mathcal{L}$ . The indicatrix is an affine sphere (necessarily hyperbolic) centered at  $p \in T_x M$ , if and only if the mean Cartan torsion has the form

$$I_{\alpha} = \frac{n+2}{2} \sqrt{-g_{y}(y, y)} \left( 1 + \frac{g_{y}(y, p)}{\sqrt{-g_{y}(y, y)}} \right)^{-1} h_{\alpha\beta} p^{\beta}$$
$$= \frac{n+2}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\alpha}} \log \left( 1 - \frac{\partial F}{\partial y^{\beta}} p^{\beta} \right), \quad \text{with } F = \sqrt{-g_{y}(y, y)}$$
(49)

with  $p^{\beta}$  independent of y. Let  $C \subset E$  be the cone generated by the convex hull of the affine sphere with its center p. The vector p belongs to  $\overline{C} - p$  and the domain of the Finsler Lagrangian is  $\overline{\Omega} = \overline{C} - p$ . Finally, let  $\mu$  be the translational invariant volume form which assigns to the indicatrix the affine mean curvature H = -1, then

$$\sqrt{|\det g_{\alpha\beta}|} \,\mathrm{d}^{n+1}y = \left(1 - \frac{\partial F}{\partial y^{\beta}} p^{\beta}\right)^{\frac{n+2}{2}} \mu,$$

thus the y dependence is all on the first factor.

Observe that p becomes a causal vector field over M if the dependence on x is considered. It can be called the *center vector field*. If timelike it selects a privileged observer on spacetime.

For Finsler spaces this result changes as follows.

**Theorem 8.** Let  $\{y^{\alpha}\}$  be canonical tangent coordinates on  $T_xM$ , where  $(M, \mathcal{L})$  is a Finsler space and where  $\mathcal{L}$  has domain  $T_xM\setminus 0$ . The indicatrix is an affine sphere (necessarily elliptic hence an ellipsoid) centered at  $p \in T_xM$ , if and only if the mean Cartan torsion has the form

$$I_{\alpha} = -\frac{n+2}{2} \sqrt{g_{y}(y, y)} \left( 1 - \frac{g_{y}(y, p)}{\sqrt{g_{y}(y, y)}} \right)^{-1} h_{\alpha\beta} p^{\beta}$$
$$= \frac{n+2}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\alpha}} \log \left( 1 - \frac{\partial F}{\partial y^{\beta}} p^{\beta} \right), \quad \text{with } F = \sqrt{g_{y}(y, y)}$$
(50)

with  $p^{\beta}$  independent of y. Let  $C \subset E$  be the ellipsoid generated by the convex hull of the affine sphere with its center p. The vector p belongs to  $\overline{C} - p$ . Finally, let  $\mu$  be the translational invariant volume form which assigns to the indicatrix the affine mean curvature H = 1, then

$$\sqrt{\det g_{\alpha\beta}} \,\mathrm{d}^{n+1} y = \left(1 - \frac{\partial F}{\partial y^{\beta}} p^{\beta}\right)^{\frac{n+2}{2}} \mu,$$

thus the y dependence is all on the first factor.

Observe that p becomes a vector field over M if the dependence on x is considered. In Eq. (49) we used Eq. (9), while in Eq. (50) we used the analogous equation  $h = F^{-1}d^2F$  which is valid for Finsler spaces (cf. Remark 7).

*Remark* 8. For Finsler spaces the indicatrix can be an affine sphere (elliptic, parabolic or hyperbolic) in other ways if the domain of  $\mathscr{L}$  is a half space minus an open cone. This happens when the affine sphere passes through the origin of  $T_x M$ . The parabolic case will be considered in Sect. 3.5. The elliptic case gives the Kropina Finsler spaces while the hyperbolic case gives yet another Finsler Lagrangian.

*Proof.* We shall denote with y a point in the indicatrix and we shall give the proof in the Lorentz–Finsler case, the Finsler case being obtained analogously for transverse fields  $\xi = -y, \bar{\xi} = -(y - p).$ 

Necessity. We make the change of transverse field from  $\xi = y$  to  $\overline{\xi} = y - p$ , and we parametrize it as in (11)

$$\bar{\xi} = \phi \xi + f_*(Z)$$

Both transverse fields are centroaffine thus the equiaffine condition holds  $\tau = \overline{\tau} = 0$ . By assumption the indicatrix is an affine sphere with center p, so  $\overline{\xi}$  is, up to a constant, the affine normal, hence the apolarity condition holds:  $\overline{trc} = 0$ . From Eq. (32) we have

$$0 = \operatorname{tr} c(W) + \frac{n+2}{2\phi}h(Z, W)$$

which implies, denoting again with h the restriction of the metric g to the indicatrix, and using (11)

$$0 = \operatorname{tr} C(f_*(W)) + \frac{n+2}{2\phi} h(f_*(Z), f_*(W))$$
  
=  $\operatorname{tr} C(f_*(W)) + \frac{n+2}{2\phi} h(\bar{\xi} - \phi\xi, f_*(W))$   
=  $\operatorname{tr} C(f_*(W)) - \frac{n+2}{2\phi} h(p, f_*(W)),$ 

which, given the arbitrariness of W, proves the equation  $I_{\alpha} = \frac{n+2}{2}\phi^{-1}h_{\alpha\beta}p^{\beta}$  with  $\phi$  to be determined. Now observe that  $f_*(Z) = \bar{\xi} - \phi\xi = y - p - \phi y$  is tangent to the indicatrix at y, thus  $g_y(f_*(Z), y) = 0$ , which implies by positive homogeneity  $\phi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g_y(y,y)}} \left(1 + \frac{g_y(y,p)}{\sqrt{-g_y(y,y)}}\right)$  [recall that on the indicatrix  $g_y(y, y) = -1$  and  $h_{\alpha\beta}$  is positive homogeneous of degree -2 cf. Eq. (9)].

Sufficiency. Define  $\phi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g_y(y,y)}} \left(1 + \frac{g_y(y,p)}{\sqrt{-g_y(y,y)}}\right), \bar{\xi} = y - p$ , so that the equation reads  $I_{\alpha} = \frac{n+2}{2}\phi^{-1}h_{\alpha\beta}p^{\beta}$ , next observe that for y on the indicatrix the definition of  $\phi$  can be recasted in the form  $g(\bar{\xi} - \phi\xi, y) = 0$  which allows us to define a vector field Z over the indicatrix so that  $f_*(Z) = \bar{\xi} - \phi\xi$ . For every W we have  $0 = \text{tr}C(f_*(W)) - \frac{n+2}{2\phi}h(p, f_*(W))$  and we can repeat the previous steps backwards till  $0 = \text{tr}c(W) + \frac{n+2}{2\phi}h(Z, W)$  which shows by Eq. (11) that  $\bar{\text{tr}}\bar{c} = 0$ , namely the transvese field  $\bar{\xi}$  is centroaffine and satisfies the apolarity condition, thus the indicatrix is an affine sphere centered at p.

Suppose that the *vector* p belongs to  $\bar{C} - p$ , then the domain of the Lagrangian is  $\bar{\Omega} = \bar{C} - p$ . For every  $y \in \Omega$ , we have  $\frac{g_y(y,p)}{\sqrt{-g_y(y,y)}} = g_{\hat{y}}(\hat{y}, p)$  with  $\hat{y}$  belonging to the indicatrix, moreover, the locus  $\{w : g_{\hat{y}}(\hat{y}, w) > -1\}$  is the half space which includes the origin and is bounded by the hyperplane tangent to the indicatrix at  $\hat{y}$ . For every  $\hat{y}$  this region includes the origin p of the affine sphere thus  $1 + \frac{g_y(y,p)}{\sqrt{-g_y(y,y)}} > 0$  and the parenthesis in Eq. (49) is well defined for every  $y \in \Omega$ .

If  $p \notin C - p$  then it is easy to see that there is a half line starting from 0 and tangent to the affine sphere, which means that the affine sphere cannot be used in its entirety to define a Finsler indicatrix. Furthermore, observe that if 0 stays on the indicatrix or on the opposite side of the indicatrix compared to p then the space would be Finsler rather than Lorentz–Finsler.

The statement on the volume forms is proved as follows. Let  $\{\chi^i\}$  be coordinates on the indicatrix. We extend them in two different ways. First we impose that the sets  $\chi^i = cnst$  are half lines passing through the origin of  $T_x M$ , and add to the set the coordinate  $\chi^0 = \mathcal{L}$  so as to coordinatize  $\Omega$ . The Finsler metric reads (cf. Eq. (48))

$$g_{\alpha'\beta'}d\chi^{\alpha'}d\chi^{\beta'} = \frac{1}{2\chi^0} (d\chi^0)^2 - 2\chi^0 h_{ij} d\chi^i d\chi^j.$$
(51)

Let  $\xi = -\frac{\partial}{\partial \chi^0} = y$  be the Finslerian centroaffine transverse field. We have

$$f^*(i_{\xi}\sqrt{|\det g|}\,\mathrm{d}\chi^0\wedge\mathrm{d}\chi^1\wedge\cdots\mathrm{d}\chi^n) = -\sqrt{\det h_{ij}}\,\mathrm{d}\chi^1\wedge\cdots\mathrm{d}\chi^n.$$
(52)

Let us consider the similar equations that are obtained if the origin of  $T_x M$  is moved on *p*. The coordinates  $\{\chi^i\}$  are extended to coordinates  $\chi^{\overline{i}}$  in such a way that their level sets are half lines originating from *p*. Adding as a further coordinate  $\chi^{\overline{0}} := \bar{\mathscr{I}}$  gives a coordinatization of *C*. The barred Finsler metric reads

$$\bar{g}_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}}d\chi^{\bar{\alpha}}d\chi^{\bar{\beta}} = \frac{1}{2\chi^{\bar{0}}}(d\chi^{\bar{0}})^2 - 2\chi^{\bar{0}}\bar{h}_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}d\chi^{\bar{i}}d\chi^{\bar{j}}.$$
(53)

The affine normal is  $\bar{\xi} := -\frac{\partial}{\partial \chi^0} = y - p$  thus at every point of the indicatrix we can find a tangent vector Z such that  $\bar{\xi} = \phi \xi + f_*(Z)$ . We know from Theorem 6 that the n + 1 form induced by  $\bar{g}$  is such that

$$f^*(i_{\bar{\xi}}\sqrt{|\det \bar{g}_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}}|}\mathrm{d}\chi^{\bar{0}}\wedge\mathrm{d}\chi^{\bar{1}}\wedge\cdots\wedge\mathrm{d}\chi^{\bar{n}})=\omega_{\bar{h}}=-\sqrt{\det \bar{h}_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}}\mathrm{d}\chi^{\bar{1}}\wedge\cdots\wedge\mathrm{d}\chi^{\bar{n}}.$$

However, on the indicatrix the coordinate  $\chi^i$  and  $\chi^{\bar{i}}$  coincide and moreover  $\bar{h} = h/\phi$ , cf. Eq. (24), thus

$$f^*(\phi i_{\xi}\sqrt{|\det \bar{g}_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}}|}\mathrm{d}\chi^{\bar{0}}\wedge\mathrm{d}\chi^{\bar{1}}\wedge\cdots\wedge\mathrm{d}\chi^{\bar{n}})=\omega_{\bar{h}}=-\phi^{-n/2}\sqrt{\det h_{ij}}\mathrm{d}\chi^{1}\wedge\cdots\wedge\mathrm{d}\chi^{n}.$$

Let  $\varphi$  be the (y-dependent but necessarily positive homogeneous of degree zero) factor such that in the canonical coordinates of the tangent bundle  $\sqrt{|\det g|} = \varphi \sqrt{|\det \overline{g}|}$  or equivalently

$$\sqrt{|\det g_{\alpha\beta}|} \mathrm{d}\chi^0 \wedge \mathrm{d}\chi^1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathrm{d}\chi^n = \varphi \sqrt{|\det \bar{g}_{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}}|} \mathrm{d}\chi^{\bar{0}} \wedge \mathrm{d}\chi^{\bar{1}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathrm{d}\chi^{\bar{n}}$$

then

$$f^*(\frac{1}{\varphi}\phi^{\frac{n+2}{2}})f^*(i_{\xi}\sqrt{|\det g_{\alpha\beta}|}\mathrm{d}\chi^0\wedge\mathrm{d}\chi^1\wedge\cdots\wedge\mathrm{d}\chi^n)=-\sqrt{\det h_{ij}}\mathrm{d}\chi^1\wedge\cdots\wedge\mathrm{d}\chi^n,$$

which using Eq. (52) proves the claim.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 2.** A Lorentz–Finsler space has an affine sphere indicatrix at  $T_x M$  if and only if the Finsler Lagrangian  $\mathscr{L} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfies the vertical Monge–Ampère equation

$$-\det d^2 \mathscr{L} = \rho^2 \left( 1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{-2\mathscr{L}}} \,\partial_p \mathscr{L} \right)^{n+2} \tag{54}$$

where  $\rho d^{n+1}y$  is the translational invariant measure which assigns to the indicatrix the affine mean curvature H = -1 and where  $p \in \overline{\Omega}$  is the center of the sphere.

A similar but less interesting version holds for Finsler spaces. In Eq. (54) the minus signs have to be changed to plus signs, and the plus signs have to be changed to minus signs.

2.4. Obtaining Finslerian results from affine differential geometry. As mentioned previously, Theorem 6 admits a reformulation for positive definite g. Since the affine metric and the Pick cubic form are the pullbacks of the Finsler metric and the Cartan torsion respectively, it is possible to obtain several results in (Lorentz-)Finsler geometry from results of affine differential geometry, and conversely.

For instance, the Maschke–Pick–Berwald theorem [74, Theor. 4.5] states that if the Pick cubic form  $c_B$  of the Blaschke structure vanishes, then the hypersurface (indicatrix) lies in a hyperquadric. From Theorem 3 this means that if the traceless part of the Pick cubic form c vanishes (independently of the transverse field used) then the indicatrix lies in a hyperquadric (see also [82, p.43, Lemma 3.2], [74, Theor. 6.4]). Using Theorem 3 this result can be translated to (Lorentz-)Finsler geometry as

**Theorem 9.** Let M be a (Lorentz-)Finsler space of dimension  $n + 1 \ge 3$ . If the traceless part of the Cartan torsion, namely

$$M_{\alpha\beta\gamma} := C_{\alpha\beta\gamma} - \frac{1}{n+2} (h_{\alpha\beta}I_{\gamma} + h_{\gamma\alpha}I_{\beta} + h_{\beta\gamma}I_{\alpha})$$

vanishes, then the indicatrix lies in a hyperquadric.

In the positive definite case it is necessarily an ellipsoid which need not be centered at the origin of  $T_x M$ , thus we have a Randers space if the origin of the tangent space lies in the interior of the ellipsoid and a Kropina space if it lies on the boundary. In Finsler geometry this result was stated by Matsumoto [60,62] but, as we have shown, it can conveniently regarded as the translation of a classical theorem from affine differential geometry. This observation can also be found in [73].

2.4.1. (Lorentz-)Randers and (Lorentz-)Kropina spaces. Observe that Theorem 9 applied to a metric g of Lorentzian signature gives that the indicatrix lies in a hyperboloid whose center is not necessarily the origin of  $T_x M$ . Let C be the cone determined by the hyperboloid and its center p. We have shown above that the indicatrix is the whole hyperboloid only if p of is causal and future directed, namely  $p \in \overline{C} - p = \Omega$ . This type of causally translated hyperboloids define the indicatrix for the Lorentzian analogs to the Randers and Kropina spaces.

The indicatrix is the locus  $\{y : \eta(y - p, y - p) = -1, \eta(y, p) \le 0\}$  where  $\eta$  is a quadratic form of Lorentzian signature on  $T_x M$  and p is causal,  $\eta(p, p) \le 0$ . The domain of the Lagrangian is then  $\Omega = \{y : \eta(y, y) < 0, \eta(y, p) \le 0\}$ .

Using Eq. (2) for  $1 + \eta(p, p) \neq 0$  we arrive at the generalized Lorentz–Randers space

$$F = \frac{\eta(p, y) + \sqrt{\eta(p, y)^2 - (1 + \eta(p, p))\eta(y, y)}}{1 + \eta(p, p)}, \quad \text{gener. Lorentz-Randers space}$$
(55)

and for  $1 + \eta(p, p) = 0$  at

$$F = \frac{\eta(y, y)}{2\eta(p, y)}$$
, Lorentz–Kropina space.

Concerning the generalized Lorentz-Randers case, the argument of the square root is positive by the Lorentzian reverse Cauchy–Schwarz inequality  $\eta(p, y)^2 - \eta(p, p)\eta(y, y) > 0$ , while *F* is indeed positive independently of the sign of  $1 + \eta(p, p)$ . In both generalized Randers and Kropina's cases, the expression of F for Finsler spaces is analogous, it is sufficient to replace  $\eta$  by -e, the minus Euclidean quadratic form.

It is interesting to observe that in the generalized Lorentz–Randers case the argument in the square root of (55) is a minus Lorentzian quadratic form iff  $1 + \eta(p, p) > 0$ , in which case we define the Lorentzian quadratic form

$$\bar{\eta}(y,y) = -\frac{1}{(1+\eta(p,p))^2} \big(\eta(p,y)^2 - (1+\eta(p,p))\eta(y,y)\big).$$
(56)

We call the spaces in which  $1 + \eta(p, p) > 0$  Lorentz–Randers.

Similarly, for Randers spaces the argument  $e(p, y)^2 + (1 - e(p, p))e(y, y)$  of the square root to the equation analogous to (55) is a positive definite quadratic form (the generalized Randers case can only be Randers since it is assumed 1 - e(p, p) > 0, for otherwise the ellipsoid cannot be interpreted as indicatrix since the origin of  $T_x M$  would stay outside it) and we define

$$\bar{e}(y,y) = \frac{1}{(1-e(p,p))^2} \left( e(p,y)^2 + (1-e(p,p))e(y,y) \right)$$
(57)

In the Lorentz–Randers (Randers) case let us set  $\bar{p} = p(1 + \eta(p, p))$  (resp.  $\bar{p} = p(1 - e(p, p))$ ). Observe that  $\bar{\eta}(\bar{p}, \bar{p}) = \eta(p, p)$  and  $\bar{\eta}(\bar{p}, y) = \eta(p, y)/(1 + \eta(p, p))$  (resp.  $\bar{e}(\bar{p}, \bar{p}) = e(p, p), \bar{e}(\bar{p}, y) = e(p, y)/(1 - e(p, p))$ ). The Lorentz–Randers (Randers) case can be recognized as the function *F* reads

$$F = \bar{\eta}(\bar{p}, y) + \sqrt{-\bar{\eta}(y, y)} \quad \left(\text{resp. } F = -\bar{e}(\bar{p}, y) + \sqrt{\bar{e}(y, y)}\right) \tag{58}$$

where  $-1 < \bar{\eta}(\bar{p}, \bar{p}) \leq 0$  (resp.  $\bar{e}(\bar{p}, \bar{p}) < 1$ ). Traditionally the Lorentz–Randers spaces are those given by the previous expression [5,79,85]. However, the inequalities constraining  $\bar{p}$  were not recognized and often the Lagrangian cone domain  $\Omega$  had been incorrectly identified with (half) the locus  $\bar{\eta}(y, y) < 0$  rather than with the smaller set F > 0 obtainable as  $\eta(y, y) < 0$ ,  $\eta(y, p) \leq 0$ , where

$$\eta(y, y) = (1 + \bar{\eta}(\bar{p}, \bar{p})) (\bar{\eta}(y, y) + \bar{\eta}(\bar{p}, y)^2).$$

It is commonplace to regard particle Lagrangians of electromagnetic type as a manifestation of Finsler geometry. Our analysis shows that since the electromagnetic field does not satisfy any causality condition, it is inappropriate to mention (Lorentz-)Finsler geometry, for the indicatrix F = 1 is not a complete hyperquadric.

2.4.2. Relationship between connections. Let  $\nabla$  be the connection introduced in Eq. (21) and let  $\nabla^h$  be the Levi–Civita connection of the affine metric *h* for the centroaffine transverse field. In order to translate some results from affine differential geometry it is necessary to establish how the connections  $\nabla$  and  $\nabla^h$  should be expressed in the language of Finsler geometry. In fact we can pass from tensors living on the indicatrix to tensors living on  $T_x M$  by using positive homogeneity, and conversely we can restrict Finslerian tensors to the indicatrix provided they annihilate the position vector *y*.

We have

**Theorem 10.** The connection  $\nabla$  is just the usual derivative D (obtained through ordinary differentiation  $\partial/\partial y^{\alpha}$  on  $T_x M$ ) followed by the projection  $P_{\beta}^{\alpha} = \delta_{\beta}^{\alpha} - y_{\beta} y^{\alpha}/g_y(y, y)$  on the tangent space to the indicatrix, namely  $\nabla = P \circ D$ , while  $\nabla^h$  is just the vertical Cartan covariant derivative  $\nabla^{VC}$  followed by the same projection,  $\nabla^h = P \circ \nabla^{VC}$ .

It is understood that the projection will act on every index of the derivative. We recall here that the Cartan vertical derivative has connection coefficients  $C_{\alpha\beta}^{\gamma}$  in the canonical coordinates of  $T_x M$ .

*Proof.* The first statement follows from the Gauss formula (21). For the second statement observe that  $\nabla_{\gamma}^{VC} y^{\alpha} = \delta_{\gamma}^{\alpha}$  and  $\nabla_{\gamma}^{VC} y_{\beta} = \nabla_{\gamma}^{VC} (g_{\beta\alpha} y^{\alpha}) = g_{\beta\gamma}, \nabla_{\gamma}^{VC} (2\mathscr{L}) = 2y_{\gamma}$ , as a consequence the vertical derivative of *h* vanishes once projected,  $P_{\alpha'}^{\alpha} P_{\beta'}^{\beta} P_{\gamma'}^{\gamma} \nabla_{\gamma}^{VC} h_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ . Thus  $P \circ \nabla^{VC}$  provides a symmetric connection compatible with the affine metric, hence it is the Levi–Civita connection of *h*, namely  $\nabla^h$ .  $\Box$ 

Let  $h_b$  and  $c_b$  be the affine metric and Pick cubic form for the Blaschke normal. In [21,35,36] it is proved that a hyperbolic affine sphere satisfies  $\nabla^{h_b}c_b = 0$  if and only if it is homogeneous (hence asymptotic to a symmetric cone). If the indicatrix is an affine sphere centered at the origin (i.e.  $I_{\alpha} = 0$ ) the Blaschke structure coincides with the centroaffine structure (Theorem 6), thus  $\nabla^{h_b}c_b = f^*P \circ \nabla^{VC}C$  where  $P \circ \nabla^{VC}C$  is

$$P^{\mu'}_{\mu}P^{\alpha'}_{\alpha}P^{\beta'}_{\beta}P^{\gamma'}_{\gamma}\nabla^{VC}_{\mu'}C_{\alpha'\beta'\gamma'} = C_{\alpha\beta\gamma\mu} - C_{\sigma\beta\gamma}C^{\sigma}_{\alpha\mu} - C_{\alpha\sigma\gamma}C^{\sigma}_{\beta\mu} - C_{\alpha\beta\sigma}C^{\sigma}_{\gamma\mu} + \frac{1}{g_{\gamma}(y,y)}(C_{\alpha\beta\gamma}y_{\mu} + C_{\mu\beta\gamma}y_{\alpha} + C_{\alpha\mu\gamma}y_{\beta} + C_{\alpha\beta\mu}y_{\gamma})$$

As a consequence, we have the Finslerian result

**Theorem 11.** Let the Lorentz–Finsler space have hyperbolic affine sphere indicatrices centered in the zero section. The indicatrix is homogeneous if and only if the previous tensor in display vanishes. Under homogeneity the Lorentz–Finsler space is Berwald if and only if it is Landsberg.

*Proof.* We need only to prove the last statement. Under the Landsberg assumption  $0 = L_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = y^{\mu}\nabla^{H}_{\mu}C_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$  thus by [63, Eq. (58)]  $G_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = -y^{\mu}\nabla^{H}_{\mu}C_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = -y^{\mu}\nabla^{H}_{\mu}(P \circ \nabla^{VC}C)_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}$ . Under homogeneity the last tensor vanishes hence the thesis.  $\Box$ 

#### 3. Applications to Anisotropic Relativity

In this section we apply some deep mathematical results on affine sphere theory to spacetime physics.

3.1. Classification of affine spheres and cone structures. A non-degenerate hypersurface on affine space having positive definite affine metric is said to be *affine complete* if it is complete with respect to the affine metric. A non-degenerate hypersurface on affine space is *Euclidean complete* if it is complete with respect to the Euclidean metric induced by the coordinates placed on the affine space. Clearly, the latter notion is independent of the chosen Cartesian coordinate system.

These two notions of completeness are independent but Trudinger and Wang proved that for strictly convex smooth affine hypersurfaces and  $n \ge 2$  affine completeness implies Euclidean completeness [91, Theor. 5.1].

Observe that the notion of affine completeness makes sense only for definite hypersurfaces. The classification of definite affine spheres has been completed thanks to the work of several mathematicians. We refer the reader to the reviews by Trudinger and Wang [92] and Loftin [58] for more details on the theory of affine spheres.

A result due to Blaschke [9] (n = 3) and Deicke [12,20] (any n) further extended by Calabi [14], and Cheng and Yau [19] reads

**Theorem 12.** Any definite elliptic affine sphere is an ellipsoid provided it satisfies any among the following conditions: (a) compactness, (b) affine completeness, (c) Euclidean completeness.

The classification of definite parabolic affine spheres is due to Jörgens [44], Pogorelov [78], Calabi [13], Cheng and Yau [19]

**Theorem 13.** Any definite parabolic affine sphere is an elliptic paraboloid provided it satisfies any among the following conditions: (a) it is a properly embedded convex hypersurface, (b) affine completeness.

Finally, the classification of definite hyperbolic affine spheres was conjectured by Calabi [14] and proved by Cheng and Yau [17,19] (see also Calabi and Nirenberg, unpublished [19]). This proof was improved and clarified by Gigena [30], Sasaki [81] and Li [51].

**Theorem 14.** For a definite hyperbolic affine sphere the following properties are equivalent: (a) Euclidean completeness, (b) affine completeness, (c) properly embedded.<sup>2</sup>

Any such affine sphere N is asymptotic to the boundary  $\partial C$  of an open convex sharp cone C given by the convex hull of N with its center. Conversely, any sharp open convex cone C contains, up to rescalings, a unique properly embedded affine sphere N which is asymptotic to  $\partial C$ .

This result is extremely important because it shows that (definite) hyperbolic affine spheres and sharp convex cones are essentially the same object. It is based on Theorem 4 and on the next result by Cheng and Yau [17, Theor. 6]

**Theorem 15.** (Cheng and Yau). Let  $\rho > 0$  and suppose that D is a bounded convex domain in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Then there exists a unique continuous convex function u on  $\overline{D}$  such that  $u \in C^{\infty}(D)$ , u satisfies  $\det(u_{ij}) = \rho^2 (-1/u)^{n+2}$ , and u = 0 on  $\partial D$ .

So suppose to have been given a cone  $\Omega_x \subset T_x M$  and introduce coordinates  $\{y^{\alpha}\}$  as in Theorem 4 in such a way that the hyperplane  $y^0 = 1$  cuts the cone in a section (1, D), with D bounded convex domain. By Theorem 4 given the solution u on  $\overline{D}$ , the embedding

$$\boldsymbol{v} \mapsto f(\boldsymbol{v}) = -\frac{1}{u(\boldsymbol{v})}(1, \boldsymbol{v}), \quad \boldsymbol{v} \in D$$

is an affine sphere with affine mean curvature H = -1, which is asymptotic to  $\partial \Omega_x$ . The corresponding Finsler Lagrangian is found imposing  $-1 = 2\mathscr{L}(x, f(v)) = 2(-\frac{1}{u})^2$  $\mathscr{L}(x, (1, v))$ , which gives  $\mathscr{L}_x|_{(1,D)} = -u^2/2$ , where the left-hand side is the restriction of the Finsler Lagrangian to the intersection between the hyperplane  $y^0 = 1$  and the convex cone. By positive homogeneity the Finsler Lagrangian is then determined on the whole cone  $\overline{\Omega}_x$ . From this equation we read the regularity of  $\mathscr{L}$  from that of u, in particular  $\mathscr{L}_x \in C^{\infty}(\Omega_x)$  and it can be continuously extended setting  $\mathscr{L} = 0$  on  $\partial \Omega$ . The relationship between u and  $\mathscr{L}$  is

$$\mathscr{L}(x, (y^0, \mathbf{y})) = -\frac{1}{2} (y^0)^2 u^2 (\mathbf{y}/y^0),$$
(59)

$$u(x, \boldsymbol{v}) = -\sqrt{-2\mathscr{L}(x, (1, \boldsymbol{v}))}.$$
(60)

We can summarize this result as follows

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The embedding is proper if the inverse image of compact sets is compact. Roughly, the hypersurface has no 'edge'. This is always the case for the indicatrices of Lorentz–Finsler geometry.

**Theorem 16.** Given an open convex sharp cone  $\Omega_x \subset T_x M$  and a (vertically translational invariant) measure  $\mu_x = \rho(x)d^{n+1}y$  there is one and only one Lorentz–Finsler Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}_x$  on  $\Omega_x$  (so  $\mathcal{L}_x < 0$  on  $\Omega_x$  and it converges to zero at  $\partial \Omega_x$ ) having vanishing mean Cartan torsion and such that  $-\det d^2 \mathcal{L}_x = \rho^2$ . This Lagrangian is  $C^{\infty}(\Omega_x)$  and its indicatrix is an affine sphere with affine mean curvature H = -1 with respect to  $\mu_x$ .

In Lorentz–Finsler gravity theories one obtains most scalars and tensors of physical interest from the Finsler Lagrangian. For instance, the proper time over a curve  $x: I \rightarrow M, t \mapsto x(t)$ , is  $\int \sqrt{-2\mathscr{L}(x(t), \dot{x}(t))} dt$ . The minus proper time over a curve multiplied by the mass of the particle gives the action of the particle (it is locally minimized over geodesics). Let us write it for a unit mass particle

$$S = \int u(x(t), \boldsymbol{v}(t)) \,\mathrm{d}t. \tag{61}$$

The projective coordinates v and the function u transform as in Eqs. (40)–(42) under change of coordinates on M.

From the above equation we conclude that u is the Lagrangian per unit mass. It has to be distinguished from the Finsler Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}$ . We shall return on this interpretation in connection with the Legendre transform in Sect. 3.3.

Theorem 16 leaves open some interesting related questions:

- ( $\alpha$ ) Can the regularity of  $\mathscr{L}$  at the boundary be improved perhaps improving the regularity of the convex cone?
- ( $\beta$ ) Can the Lorentz–Finsler Lagrangian be continuously extended beyond the cone  $\overline{\Omega}$  preserving a vanishing mean Cartan torsion?
- ( $\gamma$ ) Given a sufficiently regular convex cone is it possible to find a Lorentzian definite affine sphere which is asymptotic to the cone and its opposite?

As we mentioned most of causality theory and mathematical relativity depends on just the future causal cone. At first some regularity at the boundary of the cone seems desirable if not necessary in order to define a notion of lightlike geodesic. However, there are approaches that do not demand such regularity, for instance, lightlike geodesics could be defined as limits of timelike geodesics, or taking limits of Lorentzian metrics [70, Remark 2]. In Sect. 4 we shall show that it is possible to define the lightlike geodesics for a sufficiently differentiable light cone distribution without making reference to the differentiability of the Lagrangian at the boundary.

Nevertheless, it turns out that question ( $\alpha$ ) above receives a partly positive answer. We recall first a result by Cheng and Yau [17, p. 53] according to which  $u \in C^{0,1/2}(\overline{D})$  for *D* strongly convex and with  $C^2$  boundary. Since u = 0 at  $\partial D$  this result implies that  $\mathscr{L}$  is Lipschitz at the boundary of the cone.

Stronger results can be obtained looking at the graph of  $u, v \mapsto (v, u(v))$ . Lin and Wang proved that though u is not  $C^1$  at  $\partial D$ , its graph is a  $C^{2,\alpha}, \alpha \in (0, 1)$ , hypersurface with boundary whenever the boundary  $\partial D$  is  $C^{2,\alpha}$  [56, Theor. 4.6]. Recently, for smooth boundary  $\partial D$ , Jian and Wang [42] proved that the graph of u is a  $C^{n+2,\alpha}$  hypersurface with boundary for every  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ .

Now, we need

**Proposition 3.** If the graph of u is a  $C^{k,1/2}$ ,  $k \ge 3$ , hypersurface with boundary, then  $\mathscr{L}_x \in C^{1,1/2}(\bar{\Omega}_x)$  and  $d\mathscr{L}_x|_{\partial\Omega_x} \neq 0$ .

*Proof.* Let us prove this fact near a point  $p \in \partial D$  at which the line parallel to the  $v^n$ axis is transverse to  $\partial D$  and  $v^n$  grows inwardly (the general case follows rotating the axes). Since the derivatives of u diverge the graph of u can be expressed as a graph  $v^n = f(\bar{v}, z)$ , where f is convex (due to the convexity of the epigraph of u) and such that  $v^n = f(\bar{v}, u(v)), \ \bar{v} = (v^1, \dots, v^{n-1}), \ v = (\bar{v}, v^n), \ (\text{see} [56, \text{Sect. 4}]).$  By the assumption on the hypersurface, f is  $C^{k,1/2}$ . In other words, the  $C^{k,1/2}$  embedding can be taken to be  $(\bar{v}, z) \mapsto (\bar{v}, f(\bar{v}, z), z)$ . The Taylor expansion of f with respect to z at  $(\bar{v}, 0)$  gives  $\Delta v^n := v^n - w(\bar{v}) = h(\bar{v})u(v) + R(\bar{v}, v^n)u^2(v)$  where R is a bounded Lagrange remainder which converges to  $\partial_z^2 f(\bar{v}, 0)/2 =: R(\bar{v}, 0)$  for  $u \to 0$  and  $w(\bar{v})$ is the  $C^{k,\alpha}$  graphing function of  $\partial D$  on u = 0. Now, u(v) is not Lipschitz, for its derivatives diverge, but we mentioned that  $u^2(v)$  is Lipschitz, thus dividing by  $\Delta v^n$  and letting  $v^n \to w(\bar{v})$  we see that this identity can only hold with h = 0. Inserting back h = 0 we also get that  $R(\bar{v}, 0) \neq 0$ . The argument proves that  $\partial_z f(\bar{v}, 0) = 0$  while  $\partial_z^2 f(\bar{v}, 0) > 0$ , so we have  $f(\bar{v}, z) = w(\bar{v}) + b(\bar{v})z^2 + z^2c(\bar{v}, z)$  where  $b, c \in C^{k-2,1/2}$ , b > 0. Let d be defined by  $d(\bar{v}, y) = yc(\bar{v}, \sqrt{y})$  so that  $\partial_y d(\bar{v}, 0) = D_{\bar{v}} d(\bar{v}, 0) = 0$ ,  $d \in C^{1,1/2}$ .

The equation  $v^n = w(\bar{v}) + b(\bar{v})y + d(\bar{v}, y)$  with  $y = u^2(v)$  can now be differentiated giving

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_n u^2(\bar{v}, v^n) &= [b(\bar{v}) + D_y d(\bar{v}, u^2(v))]^{-1}, \\ D_{\bar{v}} u^2(\bar{v}, v^n) &= -b^{-1}(\bar{v}) [D_{\bar{v}} w(\bar{v}) + (D_{\bar{v}} b) u^2 + D_{\bar{v}} d(\bar{v}, u^2)] \end{aligned}$$

which are  $C^{0,1/2}(\overline{D})$ . Moreover, on the boundary u = 0 thus  $\partial_n u^2 = b^{-1} \neq 0$  which implies  $d\mathscr{L}_x \neq 0$  there.  $\Box$ 

By the mentioned result by Jian, Lin and Wang, since on spacetime  $n \ge 1$ , we have

**Corollary 3.** If the light cone  $\partial \Omega_x$  is a smooth hypersurface, then  $\mathscr{L}_x \in C^{1,1/2}(\bar{\Omega}_x)$ and  $d\mathscr{L}_x|_{\partial \Omega_x} \neq 0$ .

Thus this result shows that some regularity of the Lagrangian at the light cone can be accomplished taking sufficiently regular cones.

This regularity does not allow us to define the lightlike geodesics in the usual way. An alternative and satisfactory method will be given in Sect. 4 where we shall show that this regularity helps to define the affine parameter over lightlike geodesics.

Though the Lagrangian could be non-smooth at the cone, it would be nice if we could work directly with a Lagrangian defined all over  $TM \setminus 0$  for which the mean Cartan torsion vanishes everywhere, since traditionally the theory of Finsler connections and sprays has been developed on the slit tangent bundle (hence question  $\gamma$ ). As far as we know this question has not been investigated, possibly because the Lorentzian affine sphere asymptotically approaching the cones  $\partial \Omega_x$  and  $-\partial \Omega_x$  from outside would be described by a *non-elliptic* Monge–Ampère equation for which maximum principles are not available.

The next result and its interpretation are the main objectives of this work.

**Theorem 17.** Over a manifold M the following three concepts are equivalent:

- (a) Lorentz-Finsler Lagrangian with vanishing mean Cartan torsion,
- (b) Volume form and sharp cone distribution over M,
- (c) *Affine complete, definite, hyperbolic affine sphere subbundle of the tangent bundle with center in the zero section.*

The reader might want to check the next proof environment for details on the correspondence.

*Proof.* Given (a) we obtain (c) taking the indicatrix subbundle  $\mathscr{I}^-$ . Conversely, given (c) we obtain (a) using Eq. (2).

Given (c) we obtain (b) selecting first the volume form which assigns to the affine sphere the affine mean curvature H = -1 according to Theorem 1. The sharp cone distribution is that given by the asymptotic cones to the affine spheres as determined by Theorem 14.

Conversely, given (b) we get (c) as follows. We determine a distribution of properly embedded hyperbolic affine spheres up to rescalings thanks to Theorem 14, and among those we select that for which H = -1 according to the volume form provided by (b).

From (a) we can also obtain directly the measure of (b) using Eq. (5). This possibility follows from Theorem 6.  $\Box$ 

The problem of the determination of spacetime from a volume form and a cone distribution is solved if we use in place of Lorentz–Finsler spacetimes the next more specialized objects.

**Definition 1.** An *affine sphere spacetime* is any of the equivalent structures mentioned in Theorem 17.

The primitiveness of this definition seems remarkable. Indeed, point (c) clarifies that it relies on just the manifold structure of M, as not even a volume form is required. Nevertheless, through the equivalence with (a) we can recover all the metrical aspects which are needed in calculations: given the Finsler Lagrangian we can define the metric, the length of timelike curves and hence the proper time of observers. We can define the spray and its geodesics and so have a natural notion of free fall; we can construct tensors over M, ask for the validity of generalized Einstein's equations, and so on. Still at the core of these algebraic objects there is just an affine sphere distribution.

The sharpness condition appearing in (b) is simply the request that the two-way speed of light be finite in any direction. We shall see in a moment the physical meaning of the affine completeness appearing in (c).

The spacetime of general relativity is recovered whenever one of the following equivalent condition holds: (a) the Cartan torsion vanishes, (b) the cones are round, (c) at each point the hyperbolic affine sphere is a quadric.

*Remark 9 Physical meaning of affine completeness.* In any Lorentz–Finsler theory the affine metric coincides with the restriction of the Lorentz–Finsler metric to the indicatrix (Theorem 6). We mentioned that this object measures the length of vectors tangent to the indicatrix, namely the length of accelerations. Physically, the affine completeness of the indicatrix reflects the fact that an ideal rocket having bounded proper acceleration cannot reach the boundary of the indicatrix in a finite proper time, namely that the speed of light cannot be experienced by massive particles, and hence that there is a meaningful distinction between massive and massless particles. This requirement appears to be physically motivated so it is natural to demand the affine completeness of the indicatrix as in characterization (c).

We shall see later on that the cotangent space admits a dual indicatrix. Its affine completeness represents the impossibility of reaching the speed of light by applying a bounded force for a finite proper time. The physical equivalence of these conditions is nothing but Newton's second law: the proper acceleration (measured by a non-accelerating local observer) is proportional to the force.

*Remark 10 Tangent and cotangent translated affine sphere spacetimes.* A generalization of the notion of affine sphere spacetime can be obtained introducing a causal vector field as a further ingredient and translating the affine sphere distribution on the tangent space as done in Theorem 8. These spaces might be called *tangent translated affine sphere spacetimes* and have to be distinguished from the *cotangent translated affine sphere spacetimes*, for which the translation takes place on the cotangent space. In fact, the dual of a translated affine sphere indicatrix is a quadric then the translation on the tangent space induces a translation on the cotangent space and conversely. This restricted family includes the Lorentz–Randers spaces. We expect that the real light cones could be (possibly translated) affine spheres departing slightly from isotropy. The presence of matter could in principle modify the affine sphere equation. We shall investigate the relevant modifications in the next works.

*Remark 11.* Let *V* be a 1-dimensional vector space, and define a hyperbolic affine sphere as any point *p* different from the origin. The cone generated by it is clearly one half  $V^+ \ni p$  of the vector space. At the Lagrangian level the 0-dimensional hyperbolic affine sphere is determined by  $\mathscr{L}: V^+ \to \mathbb{R}$  where  $\mathscr{L}$  is positive homogeneous of degree two and negative, then *p* is determined by  $-2\mathscr{L}(p) = 1$ . Correspondingly, a 1-dimensional affine sphere spacetime is any 1-dimensional manifold *M* endowed with a function  $\mathscr{L}(x, y)$  defined on one half of *TM*, positive homogeneous of degree two in *y* and negative. Observe that its Hessian is negative definite so this is not a Lorentz–Finsler spacetime. Still this extension of the affine sphere spacetime definition is useful when considering Calabi products [14].

Let  $(M, \mathcal{L})$  and  $(M', \mathcal{L}')$  be pseudo-Finsler spaces. Let us consider a diffeomorphism  $f: M \to M'$  which induces a diffeomorphism, denoted with abuse of notation in the same way,  $f: E \to E'$ ,  $(x, v) \mapsto (f(x), f_*(v))$  where E denotes the slit tangent bundle. A diffeomorphism f is said to be a *conformal transformation* if there is a positive function  $\varphi: M \to \mathbb{R}$  such that  $f^*\mathcal{L}' = \varphi \mathcal{L}$  that is, for every  $(x, y) \in \Omega$  where  $\Omega$  is the conic domain of  $\mathcal{L}$ , we have  $(f(x), f_*(y)) \in \Omega'$  and

$$\mathscr{L}'(f(x), f_*(y)) = \varphi(x)\mathscr{L}(x, y), \tag{62}$$

which is equivalent to<sup>3</sup>  $f^*g' = \varphi g$ . Observe that  $f^*\mathscr{L}'$  is a Finsler Lagrangian with the same signature of the Hessian of  $\mathscr{L}'$ . The map f is an isomorphism (or an isometry) if  $\varphi = 1$ .

**Theorem 18.** Let  $f: M \to M'$  be a diffeomorphism and suppose that  $(M, \mathcal{L})$  and  $(M', \mathcal{L}')$  are affine sphere spacetimes. The map f preserves the cone structure, namely for every  $x \in M$ ,  $f_*(\Omega_x) = \Omega'_x$ , if and only if f is a conformal transformation. It also preserves the volume form if and only if it is an isometry.

*Proof.* Suppose that f preserves the cone structure, namely  $\Omega' = f_*\Omega$ . Since  $\mathscr{L}'$  has vanishing mean Cartan torsion the same is true for  $f^*\mathscr{L}'$ . The Lorentz–Finsler Lagrangians  $\mathscr{L}$  and  $f^*\mathscr{L}'$  have the same domain, vanish at the boundary of  $\Omega$  and have vanishing mean Cartan torsion. As a consequence they have affine sphere indicatrices, and since there is just one such indicatrix up to homotheties they are conformal. If the volume form is preserved the scaling factor is fixed to one since for a given volume form there is only one hyperbolic sphere with affine mean curvature -1. The converse implication is trivial.  $\Box$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> An observation due to Knebelman [45] shows that the definition of the conformal transformations with this equation for  $\varphi$  dependent also on the fiber y brings no more generality.

3.2. Physical interpretation of projective coordinates. At this stage we can also understand the physical interpretation of the inhomogeneous projective coordinates v introduced in Eq. (33) in the general framework of Lorentz–Finsler theories. First we say that  $\hat{y} \in \Omega_x$  is a covariant velocity if it is on shell, namely if  $\hat{y} \in \mathscr{I}_x^-$ . Let  $\hat{y} \in \mathscr{I}_x^-$  and let  $P_{\hat{y}}$ be the hyperplane passing through the origin such that  $\hat{y} + P_{\hat{y}}$  is tangent to the indicatrix at  $\hat{y}$ . We can choose a  $g_{\hat{y}}$ -orthonormal frame so that  $e_0 = \hat{y}$ . Since  $d\mathscr{L} = g_{\hat{y}}(\hat{y}, \cdot)$  the basis  $\{e_i, i = 1, ..., n\}$  spans  $P_{\hat{y}}$ . The basis induces a coordinate system  $\{y^{\alpha}\}$  on  $T_x M$ . Notice that at  $\hat{y}, d\mathscr{L} = -dy^0$ , furthermore at  $\hat{y}$  we have det  $g_{\alpha\beta} = -1$ .

The coordinates  $y^{\alpha}$  at  $T_x M$  determine through the exponential map a local coordinate system in a neighborhood of x which represents the coordinate system of the *observer*  $\hat{y}$ . Let  $D_{\hat{y}}$  be that subset of  $P_{\hat{y}}$  such that  $\hat{y} + D_{\hat{y}} = (\hat{y} + P_{\hat{y}}) \cap \Omega_x$ . The set  $D_{\hat{y}}$  is an open bounded convex set which represents the domain of allowed velocities of massive particles as seen from observer  $\hat{y}$ . Its boundedness expresses the finiteness of the speed of light as measured by the observer.

Since  $\hat{y}$  belongs to the indicatrix and  $y = -\frac{1}{u(v)}(1, v)$  over it, we have with this choice of coordinates  $u(\mathbf{0}) = -1$ . Let x(s) be a timelike curve passing through x = x(0) where the observer with covariant velocity  $\hat{y}$  is also passing. Let  $w^{\alpha}$  be the normal coordinates constructed by the observer in a neighborhood of x. Let  $y \in \mathscr{I}_x^-$  be the covariant velocity of the particle at x. If  $w^0$  changes of dt, w changes of vdt, thus v is the velocity of a particle with covariant velocity y as seen from the observer  $\hat{y}$ .

The inhomogeneous projective coordinate v is just the *velocity* of the particle (see Fig. 1) as measured by the observer  $\hat{y}$ ,  $D_{\hat{y}}$  is the domain of allowed velocities for massive particles as measured by  $\hat{y}$ , while u(v) plays the role of Lagrangian for the observer  $\hat{y}$  (cf. Eq. (61)). This result holds in any Lorentz–Finsler theory, so it is remarkable that these physically relevant coordinates are at the same time the best coordinates in order to express the Monge–Ampère PDE for u for affine sphere spacetimes. In the study of affine spheres they were introduced by Gigena [30], and their usefulness has been advocated by Loftin [59]. The projective invariance of the affine sphere metric emphasized in Loewner and Nirenberg's work [57] is nothing but the well-posedness of the affine sphere indicatrix geometry under projective changes, namely under changes of observer. More precisely, a change of observer is given by (40)–(42) where, however, the matrix  $A_{\alpha\beta}$  is not arbitrary since the basis  $\{e_{\alpha}\}$  for the observer has to satisfy some conditions, namely it has to imply  $\tilde{g}_{\alpha\beta} = \eta_{\alpha\beta}$  at  $\tilde{v} = \mathbf{0}$  (observe that  $g_{\alpha\beta} = \eta_{\alpha\beta}$  at  $v = \mathbf{0}$  as this is the observer condition on the coordinates).

We mentioned that in the observer coordinates of  $\hat{y}$ , det  $g_{\alpha\beta}(\hat{y}) = -1$ . But in an affine sphere spacetime this determinant is independent of the point thus det  $g_{\alpha\beta} = -1$ . In other words  $\rho = 1$ . Under a change of observer we also have det  $\tilde{g}_{\alpha\beta} = -1$ , thus det A = 1. As a consequence, for affine sphere spacetimes the changes between observer coordinates are unimodular.

The expansion of the Lagrangian *u* in the observer coordinates is

$$u(\mathbf{v}) = -1 + \frac{\mathbf{v}^2}{2} + \frac{1}{3} C_{ijk}(\hat{y}) v^i v^j v^k + \frac{1}{4!} (2C_{ijkl}(\hat{y}) v^i v^j v^k v^l + 3(\mathbf{v}^2)^2) + \cdots$$
(63)

The quadratic term gives the usual classical kinetic energy for low speeds, see Eq. (61). The observer coordinates can be characterized as those coordinates for which the Taylor expansion up to second order of u is  $u(v) = -1 + v^2/2 + \cdots$ . The expansion of the





Lagrangian can be more suggestively written

$$u(\mathbf{v}) = -\sqrt{1 - \mathbf{v}^2} + \frac{1}{3} C_{ijk}(\hat{y}) v^i v^j v^k + \frac{1}{12} C_{ijkl}(\hat{y}) v^i v^j v^k v^l + o(|v|^4).$$
(64)

The next result establishes that the isotropy of the speed of light is a property independent of the observer.

**Proposition 4.** In an affine sphere spacetime if the velocity domain D is ellipsoidal at least for one observer  $\hat{y} \in \mathscr{I}_x$ , then the same is true for every observer.<sup>4</sup> In fact,  $\mathscr{I}_x$  is actually the usual hyperboloid (a quadric) as in special relativity thus the velocity domains in observer coordinates are balls.

In the hypothesis we do not require D to be centered at the origin v = 0.

*Proof.* This result follows from the uniqueness of the Cheng–Yau solution u, see Theorem 15. The solution for a spherical domain of radius one centered at the origin is  $u = -k\sqrt{1-v^2}$  for some constant k > 0 (see also [69]). As a consequence, the solution for an elliptical domain centered at c is

$$u = -k\sqrt{1 - a_1^{-2}(v_1 - c_1)^2 + \dots + a_n^{-2}(v_n - c_n)^2}.$$

The expansion in observer coordinates is  $-1 + v^2/2 + o(v^2)$  thus c = 0, k = 1, a = 1, which proves that  $u = -\sqrt{1 - v^2}$ , the special relativistic solution.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 19.** Suppose that the Taylor expansion of the Lagrangian u is that of nonrelativistic physics (and for the matter of special relativity) up to order  $|\mathbf{v}|^3$  for any observer, namely  $u(\mathbf{v}) = -1 + \frac{\mathbf{v}^2}{2} + o(\mathbf{v}^3)$ , then the Lorentz–Finsler manifold is a Lorentzian manifold.

*Proof.* Using Eq. (63) we have  $C_{ijk}(\hat{y})v^iv^jv^k = 0$  for every observer  $\hat{y}$  and v thus by polarization the Cartan torsion vanishes on the indicatrix and hence on  $\Omega$ .  $\Box$ 

We are going to give a similar characterization for affine sphere spacetimes. To that end it is convenient to pass from the mass normalized Lagrangian u to an unnormalized Lagrangian denoted in the same way by replacing  $u \rightarrow u/m$  in the previous formulas. In the normalized notation an affine sphere spacetime has an indicatrix having H = -1thus satisfying Eq. (47). In the non-normalized formulation this equation reads

det 
$$u_{ij} = |\det g_{\alpha\beta}| \left(-\frac{1}{u}\right)^{n+2} m^{2(n+1)},$$
 (65)

thus we can identify  $-m^{\frac{2(n+1)}{n+2}}$  with the non-normalized affine mean curvature *H*. Let us continue working with the non-normalized notation till the end of this section.

Every observer  $\hat{y}$  in the observer coordinates determines a Lagrangian u(v), a Legendre map  $v \mapsto p := \partial_v u$  and a *mass matrix*  $m_{ij} := \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial v^i \partial v^j}$ . The normalized trace of the mass matrix is  $\frac{1}{n} \delta^{ij} m_{ij}$  and in the Lorentzian case it equals the mass of the particle *m* (it would be 1 in the mass normalized approach). In Finslerian gravity theories this constant is necessarily *m* for v = 0 but can run linearly in the velocity for small v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> By a similar argument, taking into account the results of [69] we have that in four spacetime dimensions an analogous result holds for a domain of conical or tetrahedral shape.

**Theorem 20.** If for every observer  $\hat{y} \in \mathcal{I}$  the normalized trace of the mass matrix is a constant *m* (the mass of the particle) up to quadratic corrections in *v*, then the Lorentz–Finsler manifold is an affine sphere spacetime.

*Proof.* From (63) the mass matrix is  $m_{ij}(v) = m\delta_{ij} + m2C_{ijk}(\hat{y})v^k + o(v)$ , thus its normalized trace is  $m + m_n^2 I_k(\hat{y})v^k + o(v)$  where we used  $\delta^{ij} = g^{ij} + O(v)$ ,  $C_{0jk}(\hat{y}) = C_{00k}(\hat{y}) = 0$ . Since  $I_0(\hat{y}) = 0$ , the assumption implies  $I_\mu(\hat{y}) = 0$  for every observer, and hence all over  $\Omega_x$ .  $\Box$ 

*Remark 12.* In other words the theorem states that affine sphere spacetimes are characterized by the property that for every test particle there is a constant m such that for every close observer that looks at the test particle  $m_{ij} - m\delta_{ij}$  is traceless not only at the zeroth order in v but also at the first order. The constant m is the rest mass of the particle. This characterization is reminiscent of the characterization of inertial coordinates systems which are those for which the apparent force acting on the particle has no linear contribution in v, however, this is really a condition on the kinematical structure of the space.

Joining the assumptions of Proposition 4 and the previous theorem we obtain a characterization of Lorentzian spacetimes in Lorentz–Finsler theory.

**Proposition 5.** If at every event all observers experience the non-relativistic characterization of mass as in the previous theorem, and if at least one observer measures an ellipsoidal (e.g. isotropic) speed of light then the spacetime is Lorentzian.

Another characterization of Lorentzian spacetimes can be obtained looking at those spacetimes which satisfy the *relativity principle*. These are the affine sphere spacetimes for which the group of linear non-degenerate endomorphisms  $G(\Omega_x)$  which leaves invariant  $\Omega_x$  is independent of x and acts transitively on  $\Omega_x$ . In other words the cone  $\Omega_x$  is homogeneous [81]. The action descends to a transitive isometric action on the affine sphere indicatrix  $\mathscr{I}_x$  (if we had selected an arbitrary indicatrix, it would not be the case). This property is the mathematical realization of the idea that all observers are kinematically equivalent. The Finsler Lagrangian is really some power of the characteristic function of the cone, but we shall not enter on this correspondence here. The important point is that for homogeneous cones the domain of allowed velocities  $D_{\hat{y}}$ is really independent of  $\hat{y}$  (up to space rotations of the observer coordinates) and the boundary  $\partial D$  is  $C^2$  only for the ellipsoid [8,43,95]. Physically, we can now interpret this result as follows

**Theorem 21.** For an affine sphere spacetime which satisfies the relativity principle, the speed of light has a  $C^2$  dependence on the direction if and only if the spacetime is Lorentzian.

It can be shown that the spacetimes which satisfy the relativity principle have light cones which depart very much from isotropy [69], so all these odd features on the speed of light are not present in spacetimes which have light cones obtained from small perturbations of the round cones. Of course, they will not satisfy the relativity principle, namely the perturbation spoils the Lorentz group and without restoring any other symmetry groups makes it possible to kinematically distinguish the observers.

3.3. Legendre transform and dispersion relations. Let  $x \in M$  and let  $V = T_x M$  (we recall that we might write  $I_x$  for  $\Omega_x$ ). The Legendre map  $\ell: I_x \to V^*$  is defined by

$$y \mapsto g_{y}(y, \cdot) = \mathbf{d}\mathscr{L}. \tag{66}$$

A study in the context of Lorentz–Finsler geometry can be found in [65]. By the Finslerian reverse Cauchy–Schwarz inequality [65] the Legendre map is a bijection between  $I_x$  and the polar cone

$$I_x^* = \{ p \in V^* \backslash 0 : p(w) < 0 \text{ for every } w \in I_x \}.$$

$$(67)$$

Since  $I_x$  is sharp and non-empty so is  $I_x^*$ . Let  $g_p$  (of components  $g^{\alpha\beta}$ ) denote the inverse of  $g_y$ , where  $y \in I_x$  is such that  $\ell(y) = p$ . On the polar cone we define the Finsler Hamiltonian

$$\mathscr{H}(p) := \frac{1}{2} g_p(p, p) = \mathscr{L}(\ell^{-1}(p)).$$

It is the Legendre transform of  $\mathscr{L}$ , it is positive homogeneous of degree two and its Hessian is  $g_p$ , a metric of Lorentzian signature. Clearly,  $\ell$  provides a bijection between  $\mathscr{I}_x$  and the dual indicatrix  $\mathscr{I}_x^* := \{p: -2\mathscr{H}(p) = 1\}$ . Now, for every volume form  $\mu = \rho(x)d^{n+1}y$  on  $T_xM$  there is a dual volume form

Now, for every volume form  $\mu = \rho(x)d^{n+1}y$  on  $T_xM$  there is a dual volume form  $\mu^* = \rho^{-1}(x)d^{n+1}p$  on  $T_x^*M$  so that  $\mu\mu^* = |(dp_{\mu} \wedge dy^{\mu})^{n+1}|$ , is the canonical volume form induced from the symplectic 2-form.

Since  $\mathscr{H}$  plays the same role for  $I_x^*$  that  $\mathscr{L}$  plays for  $I_x$ , in order to establish whether  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$  is an affine sphere we have just to calculate the mean Cartan torsion on  $(V^*, \mathscr{H})$  in place of  $(V, \mathscr{L})$ . By analogy this is given by

$$(I^*)^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{\alpha}} \log |\det g_p| = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial y^{\beta}}{\partial p_{\alpha}} \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\beta}} \log |\det g_y| = -\frac{\partial y^{\beta}}{\partial p_{\alpha}} I_{\beta} = -I^{\alpha}.$$
 (68)

Taking into account Eq. (39) and Theorem 6 we have just provided a rather simple Finslerian proof of the next duality result (known to Calabi [29, 30, 58])

**Proposition 6.**  $\mathscr{I}_x$  is a hyperbolic affine sphere if and only if  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$  is a hyperbolic affine sphere. In this case  $\mathscr{I}_x$  has affine mean curvature H = -1 with respect to  $\mu = \sqrt{|\det g_y|} d^{n+1}y$  and  $\mathscr{I}^*$  has affine mean curvature H = -1 with respect to  $\mu^* = \sqrt{|\det g_p|} d^{n+1}p$ . Given these volumes on V and V\* each affine sphere of affine mean curvature H asymptotic to  $\partial I_x$  is mapped by  $\ell$  to an affine sphere of affine mean curvature  $H^{-1}$  asymptotic to  $\partial I_x^*$ .

Let us study the Legendre map using inhomogeneous projective coordinates (Sect. 2.1). Let  $\{e_{\alpha}\}$  be a basis of V so that  $e_0 \in I_x$  and  $(e_0 + \text{Span}\{e_i\}) \cap I_x$  is bounded, and let  $y^{\alpha}$  be the induced coordinates on the vector space V. Let v be inhomogeneous projective coordinates on  $\{y \in V : y^0 > 0\}$  so that

$$y = (y^0, y) = -\frac{1}{u} (1, v).$$
 (69)

The indicatrix  $\mathscr{I}_x \subset I_x$  is a graph whose radial graphing function is  $u(\boldsymbol{v})$ , that is  $f: \boldsymbol{v} \mapsto -\frac{1}{u(\boldsymbol{v})}(1, \boldsymbol{v})$  is the hypersurface immersion of the indicatrix. Let  $p = g_y(y, \cdot) = p_\mu dy^\mu$ . In order to calculate  $\ell(y)$  for  $y \in \mathscr{I}_x$  we have to determine the value of  $p_\mu$  such that p(y) = -1 and  $p(f_*(\tilde{e}_j)) = 0$  where  $\tilde{e}_j$  is the basis of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Recalling Eq. (38), namely  $-uf_*(\tilde{e}_j) = u_j y + e_j$ , the latter condition reads  $p_j = u_j$ . Thus the former condition reads  $p_0 + \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{p} = u$ . That is  $p_0 = -u^*$ , the minus Legendre transform of u.

Let us calculate the affine metric and affine connection for the immersion  $h: \mathbf{p} \mapsto (-u^*(\mathbf{p}), \mathbf{p})$  on  $I_x^*$ . Let  $\xi^*(\mathbf{p}) = p$ . To start with we have  $h_*(e^j) = D_{h_*(e^j)}\xi^* = (-\frac{\partial u^*}{\partial p_j}, e^j) = (-v^j, e^j)$ . Let us denote for shortness  $(u^*)^{ij} = \frac{\partial^2 u^*}{\partial p_i \partial p_j}$ 

$$D_{h_*(e^i)}h_*(e^j) = D_{h_*(e^j)}D_{h_*(e^j)}\xi^* = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial p_i\partial p_j}(-u^*(p), p) = -\frac{(u^*)^{ij}}{u}(u, \mathbf{0})$$
$$= -\frac{(u^*)^{ij}}{u}\{-(-p \cdot v, p) + (-u^*, p)\} = \frac{(u^*)^{ij}}{u}p_kh_*(e^k) - \frac{(u^*)^{ij}}{u}\xi^*.$$

Since the last equation is split into a term tangent to the dual indicatrix and a term proportional to  $\xi^*$ , we can easily read the affine metric and connection coefficients.

**Theorem 22.** The dual indicatrix  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$  is the image of the immersion

$$h: \mathbf{p} \mapsto (-u^*(\mathbf{p}), \mathbf{p}) \tag{70}$$

where  $u^*(\mathbf{p})$  is the Legendre transform of  $u(\mathbf{v})$ . With respect to the transverse field given by the position vector the affine metric is  $h^* = -\frac{(u^*)^{ij}}{u} dp_i dp_j$  while the connection coefficients, defined by  $\nabla_{e^j}^* e^i = (\nabla^*)_k^{ij} e^k$ , are  $(\nabla^*)_k^{ij} = \frac{(u^*)^{ij}}{u} p_k$ .

The physical interpretation is obvious. We have seen that in observer coordinates u(v) is the Lagrangian (per unit mass) and v is the velocity, thus p is the momentum (per unit mass) and  $u^*(p)$  is the Hamiltonian (per unit mass). Thus the dual indicatrix is the Cartesian graph of the minus energy. Since observer coordinates are characterized by the expansion  $u(v) = -1 + v^2/2 + \cdots$ , they are also characterized by the expansion  $u^*(p) = 1 + p^2/2 + \cdots$ . By the properties of the Legendre map, as  $u^*$  is the energy  $v = \partial E/\partial p$ , thus the dependence E(p) might also be called *dispersion relation* and the usual velocity might be called *group velocity*.

Math. objects	Meaning
$\mathcal{L}(x, y)$	Finsler Lagrangian
$\mathscr{H}(x,p)$	Finsler Hamiltonian
v	Velocity with respect to observer
p	Momenta as measured by observer
u(v)	(Observer) Lagrangian
<u>u*(p)</u>	(Observer) Hamiltonian

*Remark 13.* Observe that coordinates v and p provide quite different parametrizations of the indicatrix and its dual [compare Eqs. (34) and (70)]. The former are projective inhomogeneous coordinates while the latter coordinates, being Cartesian, might be called homogeneous. The coordinates v will be bounded while p certainly is not as the dual indicatrix is asymptotic to the dual cone.

Historically, the first coordinates to be introduced in the study of affine spheres have been the dual coordinates [14]. Of course, mathematically, one could use inhomogeneous projective coordinates on  $T_x^*M$  rather than  $T_xM$ . Here it is the physical interpretation which dictates to use inhomogeneous coordinates on  $T_xM$ . In this way the boundedness

of the domain *D* expresses the finiteness of the (direction dependent) speed of light. Also observe that the sum of velocities, v + w, makes no sense since it is not projectively covariant. In fact the sum of velocities does not have the classical mechanics interpretation of change of observer. However, the sum of momenta  $p_{\alpha} + q_{\alpha}$  must indeed be well defined as we need it in order to express, for instance, the conservation of momentum in the collisions of particles. Since the components  $p_{\alpha}$  are identified with the homogeneous coordinates on the cotangent space, this addition operation is indeed well defined.

We can complement Definition 1 with

#### Proposition 7. An affine sphere spacetime is equivalently determined by:

(d) affine complete, definite, hyperbolic affine sphere subbundle of the cotangent bundle with center in the zero section.

The relationship between  $\mathscr{H}$  and  $u^*$  is not as simple as that between  $\mathscr{L}$  and u. Using positive homogeneity of  $\mathscr{H}$  it is easy to verify that  $\mathscr{H}((p_0, \mathbf{p})) = -\frac{1}{2}s^2$  where s > 0 is such that  $\frac{p_0}{s} = -u^*(\frac{\mathbf{p}}{s})$ , however in general it is not possible to find s from this equation.

In observer coordinates we can easily expand  $u^*$ . In fact we already know the expansion up to quadratic order, and taking into account that  $(u^*)^{ij}$  is the inverse of  $u_{ij}$  we get (here a, b, c = 1, 2, 3)

$$\frac{\partial^3 u^*}{\partial p_k \partial p_j \partial p_i} = \frac{\partial (u^*)^{ij}}{\partial p_k} = -(u^*)^{ia} (u^*)^{jb} \frac{\partial v^c}{\partial p_k} \frac{\partial u_{ab}}{\partial v^c} = -(u^*)^{ia} (u^*)^{jb} (u^*)^{kc} \frac{\partial u_{ab}}{\partial v^c}$$

We are interested on this value for p = 0 for which  $(u^*)^{ij} = \delta^{ij}$  thus arguing similarly for the fourth order term we arrive at the expansion (here s = 1, 2, 3 and the Cartan torsion and curvature are evaluated at the observer  $\hat{y}$ )

$$u^{*}(\boldsymbol{p}) = \sqrt{1 + \boldsymbol{p}^{2}} - \frac{1}{3} C_{ijk} p_{i} p_{j} p_{k} + \frac{1}{4!} (12C_{sil}C_{sjk} - 2C_{ijkl}) p_{i} p_{j} p_{k} p_{l} + o(|\boldsymbol{p}|^{4}).$$
(71)

We recall that the we have used a mass normalized notation. In order to get the non-normalized versions, it is necessary to replace  $u \to u/m$ ,  $p \to p/m$ ,  $u^* \to u^*/m$  in the previous formulas.

*3.3.1. Kähler–Einstein condition on the cotangent space.* Proposition 7 implies the validity of cotangent versions of the Kähler–Einstein characterizations of the affine sphere condition, cf. Theorems 1 and 2.

It is convenient to define a map  $*: \Omega \to \Omega^*$ , as  $* = m\ell \circ i_{\mathscr{I}}$ , where  $\mathscr{I}$  is the indicatrix of a Finsler Lagrangian on  $\Omega$ ,  $\ell$  is the Legendre map, and  $i_{\mathscr{I}}$  is an inversion with respect to the indicatrix (for homogeneous cones this map was introduced by Vinberg [94]). In other words,  $y^* := m\ell(y)/[-2\mathscr{L}(y)]$ . Since we have analogous ingredients in  $\Omega^*$ , we define  $p^* := m\ell^{-1}(p)/[-2\mathscr{H}(p)]$ . It can be easily checked that \* is an involutive bijection, that  $4\mathscr{H}(y^*)\mathscr{L}(y) = m^2$ , and that, defined the Kähler potential of  $\Omega^*$ , log  $V^*$ , with  $V^* = (\frac{-2\mathscr{H}}{m})^{-m/2}$ , we have  $V^*(y^*)V(y) = 1$ .

The Cheng–Yau metric is defined as before through  $\hat{g}_p = d^2 \log V^*$ , and the formula analogous to (15), namely det  $\hat{g}_p = -(\det g_p)(V^*)^2$  implies det  $\hat{g}_p|_{p=y^*} = (\det \hat{g})^{-1}|_y$  (recall that g(sp) = g(p) for s > 0).

From here we can introduce the Kähler Ricci tensor for both the Lorentzian and **Riemannian** metrics

$$K^{*\alpha\beta} := -\frac{\partial^2}{\partial p_\alpha \partial p_\beta} \log |\det g_p|, \qquad \hat{K}^{*\alpha\beta} := -\frac{\partial^2}{\partial p_\alpha \partial p_\beta} \log \det \hat{g}_p. \tag{72}$$

then the analogous results to Theorems 1 and 2 state that the Kähler–Einstein condition involving any of these tensors is equivalent to the affine sphere condition.

3.4. Group-phase duality. We have argued that the velocity v is an inhomogeneous projective coordinate on the tangent space and that p is a homogeneous projective coordinate on the cotangent space. This approach has given a description of  $\mathscr{I}_x$  through an observer Lagrangian  $u(\mathbf{v})$ .

We might ask what is the description of the indicatrices if we introduce coordinates with reversed roles: inhomogeneous on the cotangent space and homogeneous on the tangent space.

Let us define

$$\check{\boldsymbol{v}} = (\boldsymbol{u}^*(\boldsymbol{p}))^{-1}\boldsymbol{p},$$
 phase velocity (73)

$$\check{\boldsymbol{p}} = -(u(\boldsymbol{v}))^{-1}\boldsymbol{v},$$
 phase momenta (74)  
 $\check{u}(\check{\boldsymbol{v}}) = -(u^*(\boldsymbol{p}))^{-1},$  phase Lagrangian (75)

$$= -(u^{\prime}(\mathbf{p}))^{-1},$$
 phase Lagrangian (75)

$$\check{u}^*(\check{p}) = -(u(v))^{-1},$$
 phase Hamiltonian (76)

so that  $\check{u}^*, u^* > 0$ ;  $\check{u}, u < 0$ . We recall that  $E = u^*$  is the energy so the definition of phase velocity is the usual one. The immersion of the dual indicatrix  $p \mapsto (-u^*(p), p)$ reads in the new coordinates

$$\check{\boldsymbol{v}} \mapsto -\frac{1}{\check{\boldsymbol{u}}(\check{\boldsymbol{v}})} \left(-1, \check{\boldsymbol{v}}\right) \tag{77}$$

while the immersion of the indicatrix  $\mathbf{v} \mapsto -\frac{1}{u(\mathbf{v})}(1, \mathbf{v})$  reads in the new coordinates

$$\check{\boldsymbol{p}} \mapsto (\check{\boldsymbol{u}}^*(\check{\boldsymbol{p}}), \check{\boldsymbol{p}}). \tag{78}$$

Recalling the definition of polar cone  $I_x^*$ , and noticing that  $p_{\alpha}y^{\alpha} < 0$  iff  $\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \check{\boldsymbol{v}} < 1$ , we arrive at

**Theorem 23.** The phase velocity domain is  $\check{D} = D^*$ , where  $D^* = \{z : z \cdot v < 1, \forall v \in D\}$ is the dual of the velocity domain. In particular, the velocity is bounded if and only if the phase velocity is bounded. This is so in the physical observer coordinates.

We recall that the domain D and hence  $D^*$  depends on the choice of observer, namely on the chosen point on the indicatrix, unless the indicatrix is homogeneous in which case, up to rotations, all the domains D coincide.

It is not difficult to check (e.g. [69]) that for the isotropic theory the group-phase duality is trivial: the phase quantities coincide with the usual (group) quantities. On the contrary under anisotropy they differ and there will be directions for which the phase velocity is larger than the (group) velocity and conversely.

We showed in Proposition 6 that  $\mathscr{I}_x$  is an affine sphere with affine mean curvature H if and only if  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$  is an affine sphere with affine mean curvature  $H^{-1}$ , thus in an affine sphere spacetime we have the phase dual of Eq. (36)

$$\det \frac{\partial^2 \check{u}}{\partial \check{v}_i \partial \check{v}_j} = \rho^{-2} \left( \frac{1}{H \check{u}} \right)^{n+2},\tag{79}$$

where  $\rho^2 = |\det g_{\alpha\beta}|$  and in the mass normalized notation, H = -1.

3.4.1. Momentum of a photon. In this section we explain how to represent a photon. In general Lorentz–Finsler theories the momentum of a photon is given by a point  $p \in \partial \Omega_x^*$ , where  $\Omega_x^*$  is the polar cone of  $\Omega_x$ , the vertical domain of the Lorentz–Finsler Lagrangian at x. In the observer coordinates of an observer  $\hat{y}$ , the momentum reads  $p_{\mu} = hv(-1, \check{p})$  where  $\check{p} \in \partial D_{\hat{y}}^*$ , v is the frequency and h is Planck's constant. The frequency can also be written  $-p_{\mu}\hat{y}^{\mu} = hv$ . Observe that  $\check{p}$  is not necessarily normalized unless the speed of light is isotropic.

Suppose that the boundary  $\partial \Omega_x$  is  $C^2$  and with strongly convex sections. There is a duality between the projective images of  $\partial \Omega_x^*$  and  $\partial \Omega_x$ , in fact the hyperplane tangent to  $\partial \Omega_x^*$  at *p* defines the direction of a null vector belonging to  $\partial \Omega_x$ , and conversely. In the last section we shall show that this is all is required in order to have a lightlike geodesic flow on spacetime and a well defined transport of momenta.

If we have more than that, namely if g is defined and non-degenerate at the boundary of  $\Omega_x$ , then the Legendre map establishes a one-to-one correspondence between  $\partial \Omega_x$ and  $\partial \Omega_x^*$  (cf. [65,70]), namely between lightlike vectors and lightlike momenta, which, as we argue in the last section, is not really required for the observational interpretation of the theory.

Suppose we have less than that. Strong convexity of the cone guarantees that at the projective level the Legendre map  $P\partial\Omega_x \rightarrow P\partial\Omega_x^*$  is injective, and differentiability guarantees that it is single valued. So  $\partial\Omega_x$  could be non-differentiable and so have edges or have flat (or non-strongly convex in the projective sense of D) parts. Of course, the cone  $\Omega_x^*$  would have a dual behavior. As a consequence, in the rough theory a point on an edge of  $\partial\Omega_x$  corresponds to many momenta, and a point on an edge of  $\partial\Omega_x^*$  corresponds to many momenta, and a point on an edge of  $\partial\Omega_x^*$  the lack of non-differentiability could be a minor problem since a convex function is almost everywhere differentiable, so the pathological momenta would form a set of vanishing measure. In any case in the general rough theory there is no more a one-to-one correspondence between  $P\partial\Omega_x$  and  $P\partial\Omega_x^*$  and the best way to represent a photon is probably as a suitable equivalence class of pairs  $(p, y) \in \partial\Omega_x^* \times \partial\Omega_x$  with  $p_\mu y^\mu = 0$ . These photons can then be regarded as superpositions of extremal photons, which correspond to values of p, y belonging to the extremal points of  $\partial\Omega_x^*$  and  $\partial\Omega_x$ .

If one is interested in alternative models which retain most of the good features of general relativity then the rough cone models should be discarded at least on a first study. In fact there are plenty of models with smooth but non-isotropic cones that might attract the researcher's attention. Rough models have been included in our analysis because they make their appearance in the study of alternative Finslerian realizations of the relativity principle [69] (see also Theorem 21).

3.5. Non-relativistic spacetimes are improper affine sphere bundles. The new formulation of spacetime in terms of affine spheres makes it possible to understand the difference between relativistic and non-relativistic spacetimes without making reference to invariance groups.

Let us consider the dual affine indicatrix  $p \mapsto (-u^*(p), p)$  in observer coordinates. In the non-relativistic limit we can approximate  $u^* = 1 + p^2/2$  thus the dual indicatrix becomes  $p \mapsto (-1 - p^2/2, p)$  which is an improper affine sphere with affine normal  $-\frac{\partial}{\partial p_0}$ . This fact suggests to consider improper affine spheres in place of proper affine spheres. In both the relativistic and non-relativistic theories the energy will be  $-p_0$ , that is, *minus* the zeroth component of the momenta in observer coordinates.

In order to understand the following construction let us recall the transformation rules for kinetic energy (over mass) and momentum (over mass) in classical physics under change of reference frame. Suppose to be in a reference frame *K* and to change to the frame *K'* which moves with velocity  $v_0$  with respect to *K*. If *p* and  $T = p^2/2$  denote the momentum and kinetic energy of a particle in *K*, then those measured in *K'* can be obtained with the affine transformation

$$\boldsymbol{p}' = \boldsymbol{p} - \boldsymbol{v}_0,\tag{80}$$

$$T' = T - \boldsymbol{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_0 + \frac{\boldsymbol{v}_0^2}{2}.$$
(81)

Coordinates (-T, p) can be thought to be determined by a frame in a n + 1-dimensional affine space. The equation  $T = p^2/2$ , being preserved by the frame change, defines an elliptic paraboloid on the affine space.

It is convenient to define the notion of non-relativistic spacetime in analogy with the characterization (d) (Proposition 7) for the relativistic case. The idea is to replace the proper affine spheres with *improper* affine spheres. While the former have a center and hence can be thought to belong to a vector space (or to an affine space with a selected special point) here we must necessarily work on an affine space.

Furthermore, it is necessary to work on the cotangent space rather than in the tangent space, for a parabolic affine sphere on the latter would determine a special vector field on M given by the affine normal. This vector field would be interpreted as a privileged observer, a feature not present in classical theories. On the cotangent space the affine normal determines instead a one-form field  $\psi$  which, if exact, could be written  $\psi = dt$  where t is the classical time foliation of M. Of course on the level sets t = cnst. we would like to have defined a Riemannian (space) metric. This ingredient will be again a consequence of the parabolic sphere on the cotangent bundle.

Another difference is that proper affine spheres might be used to fix a volume form through the normalization condition H = -1, which is why the volume form does not appear in (d). For improper spheres H = 0, thus the volume form cannot be removed using this trick. Furthermore, parabolic affine spheres on the cotangent bundle obtained from each other by translations along the affine normal will be regarded as equivalent. Physically, this is related to the fact that in classical theories the energy is defined only up to an arbitrary constant.

We recall that every affine space *E* is associated to a vector space *V*, and every vector space has a natural structure of affine space. Analogously, every affine bundle is associated to a vector bundle, and every vector bundle can be regarded itself as an affine bundle. We also recall that a reference frame on *E* is given by a pair  $(p, \{e_{\alpha}\})$  where  $p \in E$  and  $\{e_{\alpha}\}$  is a basis on *V*, then every point  $q \in E$  can be written  $q = p + x^{\alpha}e_{\alpha}$  where  $\{x^{\alpha}\}$  are the coordinates determined by the frame. In the next definition the *affine cotangent bundle* is the cotangent bundle regarded as an affine space, or better said it is the affine bundle associated with the cotangent bundle.

**Definition 2.** A *non-relativistic spacetime* is a pair given by (a) a volume form on M, and (b) an affine complete, definite, parabolic affine sphere subbundle of the affine cotangent bundle (two parabolic affine spheres are regarded as equivalent if they are obtained through translation along the affine normal).

Let  $E^*$  denote the affine bundle and let  $E_x^*$  be its fiber at  $x \in M$ .  $E_x^*$  is an affine space associated with  $T_x^*M$ . The volume form on M induces a dual volume form  $\rho^{-1}(x)dp_0dp_1\cdots dp_n$  on  $T_x^*M$ . We know from Jörgens–Calabi–Pogorelov–Cheng– Yau's Theorem 13 that the affine sphere is an elliptic paraboloid. We now choose a frame on  $E_x^*$ . Let p belong to the elliptic paraboloid and let  $\{e^{\alpha}\}$  be a basis of  $T_x^*M$ such that  $-e^0$  is the affine normal (it is defined using the dual volume form). Denoting with  $p_{\alpha}$  the induced coordinates on  $E_x$  we have that the affine sphere is a graph  $p_0 = b^i p_i - \frac{1}{2}c^{ij} p_i p_j$ . Applying some linear transformations which consist in a redefinition of  $e^i$ , i = 1, ..., n, we can always bring the equation of the elliptic paraboloid to the form  $p_0 = -\frac{1}{2}p^2$ . As the affine normal is  $-\partial/\partial p_0$ , Eq. (44) is satisfied with  $\rho = 1$ , thus in observer coordinates the dual volume form is  $|dp_0dp_1\cdots dp_n|$ .

Any coordinate system on  $E_x^*$  which brings the equation of the paraboloid to this canonical form is called *observer coordinate system* (see Fig. 1). Clearly, the origin of the coordinate system belongs necessarily to the parabolic sphere since the choice  $p_0 = \mathbf{p} = 0$  satisfies the equation  $p_0 = -\frac{1}{2}\mathbf{p}^2$ .

**Proposition 8.** Any two observer coordinate systems on  $E_x^*$  with origin on the same point of the paraboloid are related by  $p_{\tilde{0}} = p_0$ ,  $p_{\tilde{i}} = O_{\tilde{i}}^i p_i$  where O is an orthogonal transformation.

*Proof.* For fixed origin observer coordinates are uniquely determined up to orthogonal transformations of the spatial part. To see this observe that any two choices, coming from the respective choices for the basis, are linearly related. The affine normal and the affine metric of the parabolic sphere are independent of the coordinate system chosen. Since the affine normal is an invariant we must have for any two choices of observer coordinates  $\partial/\partial p_0 = \partial/\partial p_{\bar{0}}$  which implies  $\partial p_{\bar{i}}/\partial p_0 = 0$  and  $\partial p_{\bar{0}}/\partial p_0 = 1$ . Similarly  $\partial p_i/\partial p_{\bar{0}} = 0$ . Since  $p_{\bar{0}} = p_0 + b^i p_i$  it must be  $b^i = 0$  otherwise we would have that the affine sphere graph  $p_{\bar{0}}(\tilde{p})$  has a linear term contrary to the definition of observer coordinates. Thus  $p_0$  and  $p_{\bar{0}}$  coincide. The spatial components linearly transform among themselves. Since the affine metric is invariant, we have  $\delta^{ij} dp_i dp_j = \delta^{\tilde{i}\tilde{j}} dp_{\tilde{i}} dp_{\tilde{j}}$ , which implies that the transformation  $\tilde{p}(p)$  is an orthogonal transformation.

The affine sphere represents once again the space of observers (massive particles) and the coordinate system depends furthermore on the orientation of the comoving laboratory. The just found O(n) invariance of the canonical form of the paraboloid is expression of its isotropy. Contrary to the relativistic case *there is no anisotropic non-relativistic theory* since there is just one possible observer space, and this space is isotropic. This fact is a consequence of Theorem 13 and physically should be expected. In fact if the speed of light is finite then its value can differ in different directions. On the contrary if it is infinite then it is isotropically so.

So far we have only obtained the kinematical aspects of the theory at the single point. We observe that the normal to the paraboloid  $\psi = -e^0 = -\partial/\partial p_0 \in T_x^*M$  and the metric  $\gamma := \delta^{ij} dp_i dp_j \in T_x M \otimes_M T_x M$ , where  $\{p_i\}$  are observer coordinates, are well defined as independent of the reference frame ( $\gamma$  is an extension of the affine metric obtained imposing  $\gamma(\cdot, e^0) = 0$ ). We have therefore a triple  $(M, \gamma, \psi)$  where  $\gamma$  is a

contravariant metric and  $\psi$  is a non-vanishing one-form such that  $\gamma^{\alpha\beta}\psi_{\beta} = 0$ . Any such triple is called *Galilei structure* [22–24,47,48,89,90] and is precisely the geometrical structure at the basis of classical (non-relativistic) physics. The fact that given a Galilei structure it is possible to reconstruct a paraboloid on the cotangent space (and hence on the affine space associated to it) is pretty obvious using coordinates  $\{p_{\alpha}\}$  which diagonalize  $\gamma$  and such that  $\psi = -\partial/\partial p_0$ .

**Proposition 9.** The non-relativistic spacetime given by Definition 2 is equivalent to a Galilei structure  $(M, \gamma, \psi)$ .

Once again we see that the definition through affine spheres does not involve metricalalgebraic concepts.

The metric  $\gamma$  is equivalent to a metric on the quotient space  $T_x^* M/\psi$ , which gives an inverse metric *a* on its dual  $(T_x^* M/\psi)^*$ . This dual is the vector space of linear functionals on  $T_x^* M/\psi$ , namely it is the vector space of linear functionals on  $T_x^* M$  which vanish on  $\psi$ . This is precisely  $S_x := \ker \psi \subset T_x M$ . Thus the metric  $\gamma$  is equivalent to a metric *a* on  $S_x$  called *space metric*. Finally, if  $\psi$  is locally (globally) exact then the Galilei structure is said to be locally (globally) integrable. There is a function  $t: U \to \mathbb{R}, U \subset M$ , such that  $\psi = dt$ . This function is the classical time of the theory.

*Remark 14 Kählerian characterization of non-relativistic spacetimes.* We know that in the relativistic case the (local) affine sphere condition is equivalent to the (vertical) Kähler-Ricci flatness of the cotangent space (Sect. 3.3.1). We have also argued that the cotangent indicatrix must be affine complete (Remark 9), otherwise it would be possible to reach the maximum speed in finite proper time. These elements determined the characterization (c) of relativistic affine sphere spacetimes. Can non-relativistic spacetimes be characterized with similar conditions? The Kähler-Ricci flatness condition cannot be imposed at the level of a Lorentz–Finsler Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}$ , since working with an indicatrix asymptotic to a cone would imply an assumption on the finiteness of the speed of light. In the non-relativistic theory we do not have such Finsler Hamiltonian. Still we have the classical Hamiltonian  $u^*$  which is used to express the indicatrix as a graph. As a consequence, we expect that the next result should hold

**Theorem 24** Assume that the Blaschke (affine) metric<sup>5</sup> of the strictly convex smooth indicatrix  $\mathbf{p} \mapsto (-u^*(\mathbf{p}), \mathbf{p})$  is complete and the Kähler–Ricci flatness condition

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial p_i \partial p_j} \log \det \frac{\partial^2 u^*}{\partial p_i \partial p_j} = 0$$
(82)

holds, then the indicatrix is an elliptic paraboloid.

In short the condition on the parallel nature of the Blaschke normals used in the Definition 2 of non-relativistic spacetime, and related to the existence of a 'local space' ker  $\psi$ , can be replaced by the Kähler–Ricci flatness condition. In fact, this theorem along with many of the previously physically motivated result has been proved. It can be found in a recent work by Li and Xu [53, 54, 98] in which they generalized the classical Jörgens at al. theorem (Theorem 13). It would be nice if one could replace the condition on the affine completeness of the metric with the requirement of unboundedness of the velocity, namely with the request that the map  $p \mapsto v := \partial u^*(p)$  is surjective. This is again possible, see [54, Main Th]. It is even possible to remove the condition

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Blaschke metric is  $[\det(u^*)^{ij}]^{-1/(n+2)}(u^*)^{ij}$ , since the indicatrix is a graph, see [74, Ex. 3.3].

on the unboundedness of the velocity provided  $u \rightarrow \infty$  as we approach the maximum velocity. This condition roughly is demanding that though in principle the velocity could be bounded in some directions, the dual indicatrix should not be contained in any cone, namely the 'relativistic' Finslerian framework should not apply.

Remark 15 Minimal kinematical data. It is convenient to take one step back and consider a minimal set of data which clarifies the connection between relativistic and nonrelativistic theories. Let us consider a smooth strictly convex hypersurface  $\mathscr{I}_r^*$  on the affine cotangent space. We assume that there are no distinct parallel hyperplanes tangent to  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$ . Let  $\Omega_x$  be the collection of  $y \in T_x M$  such that for some  $q \in T_x^* M$ ,  $\mathscr{I}_x^* \subset q + \{p \in T_x^*M, y(p) < 0\}$ . In other words, we are considering all the tangent hyperplanes to  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$  using those to construct a cone of vectors on the tangent space. To every point  $p \in \mathscr{I}_x^*$  corresponds a half line (passing through the origin) in  $\Omega_x$  given by those vectors whose kernel on  $T_x^*M$  is parallel to the hyperplane tangent to  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$  at p. Conversely, to every half-line in  $\Omega_x$  corresponds a momenta on  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$  obtained (Hilbert's trick) translating the kernel of the vector till it touches  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$ . It is also not difficult to show that  $\Omega_x$  is open and convex. The strict convexity and smoothness of  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$  implies that there is a bijection between momenta, i.e. points of  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$ , and velocities, i.e. half-lines of  $\Omega_x$ . Observe that so far  $\Omega_x$  could be non-sharp and even an half-space. The cone  $\Omega_x$ gives the set of allowed directions for the timelike curves on M. The bijection with  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$ provides (for unit mass particles) the momenta of the particle moving on such worldline. An hypersurface  $\mathscr{I}^* \subset T^*M$  with the properties given above might be called a *minimal* spacetime.

We are going to show that in both relativistic and non-relativistic spacetimes  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$  is regarded as an equiaffine hypersurface, the difference being that in the former case the center is 'finitely placed' on the cotangent space while in the latter case it is at infinity. The affine sphere condition implies that there is just one natural choice of center. To see this let us introduce affine coordinates on the cotangent affine space so that  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$  is the image of a graph  $\mathbf{p} \mapsto (-u^*(\mathbf{p}), \mathbf{p}), u^* > 0$ , (observe that we have not yet introduced a star operation, this is just notation). The vector which corresponds to  $p = (-u^*(\mathbf{p}), \mathbf{p})$ is  $y = s(1, \partial u^*) =: s(1, \mathbf{v}), s > 0$ . This is a half-line. If we want to select just a representative we need to find an hypersurface  $\mathscr{I} \subset \Omega_x$  transverse to the rays which serves as normalization.

If the hypersurface  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$  is regarded as centroaffine with 'finitely placed' center and we had wisely selected the affine coordinates so that the center corresponds to the origin, then, since p is transverse to  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$ , the most natural normalization is obtained imposing y(p) = -1, namely s = -1/u. In this way we get the representation of the relativistic indicatrix  $v \mapsto -\frac{1}{u(v)}(1, v)$ . If instead the center is at infinity then the affine coordinates are chosen so that  $e_0 = \partial/\partial p_0$  points towards the center, and since it is transverse to  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$ the most natural normalization is  $y(e_0) = 1$  which gives the non-relativistic indicatrix  $v \mapsto (1, v)$ . Observe that even in the non-relativistic case the domain of v could be bounded since it is just a section of  $\Omega_x$ . Note also that there could be several choices of center for  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$ . It is the affine sphere (or the Kähler) condition which implies that there is a natural choice. In the non relativistic case it implies that  $\Omega_x$  is an half space, which will allow us to interpret  $\mathscr{I}$  as the first Jet bundle (see below). Another role of the affine sphere condition is the following: on a minimal spacetime given the distribution  $x \mapsto \Omega_x$  we cannot recover  $\mathscr{I}_x^*$  (up to translations), in fact any strictly convex compact deformation of  $\mathscr{I}^*$  would give the same light cone distribution. The affine sphere condition makes it possible to recover the minimal data. *Remark 16.* There is a subtle point which requires some clarification. It is well known that  $v \mapsto (-u(v), v)$  is a parabolic affine sphere on  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  if and only if  $p \mapsto (-u^*(p), p)$  is a parabolic affine sphere on the dual space  $\mathbb{R}_{n+1}$ , where  $u^*$  and u are Legendre transform of each other. This fact is rather elementary as the Hessian of u is the inverse of the Hessian of  $u^*$ , and the parabolic affine sphere equation is a condition on the unimodularity for the Hessian (44). One might therefore suspect that a parabolic affine sphere on the affine cotangent bundle should determine a parabolic affine sphere on the affine tangent bundle and conversely. We have seen a similar result in the hyperbolic case. This expectation is incorrect, for one reason, while in the proper affine sphere case one can work in dual *vector* spaces rather than in *affine* spaces, and the correspondence can be made coordinate independent as it is evident in the Legendre approach passing through  $\mathcal{L}$  and  $\mathcal{H}$ , see Eq. (66), here the duality map would depend on the coordinate systems placed on the affine cotangent space and is therefore, ill defined.

Still there is one question left. The observer space in the hyperbolic case can be given a geometrical interpretation using either a tangent or a cotangent approach. Here, in the non-relativistic parabolic theory we have given only the cotangent version of the observer space. What is the tangent counterpart?

The 1-form field  $\psi$  not only determines its kernel  $S_x$ , it also determines the locus  $\mathscr{I}_x = \{y \in T_x M : \psi(y) = 1\}$  which is an affine space modeled over the vector space  $S_x$ . Given  $\mathscr{I}_x$  one has a unique one form  $\psi$  such that  $\mathscr{I}_x = \psi^{-1}(1)$ . The triple  $(M, \gamma, \psi)$  is therefore equivalent to a triple  $(M, \mathscr{I}, a)$  where  $x \mapsto \mathscr{I}_x$  is a distribution of affine subspaces of the slit tangent bundle, and *a* is a metric over them. The observer space in the tangent approach is  $\mathscr{I}_x$ . If  $\psi$  is exact we have a time fibration  $t : M \to T, T \subset \mathbb{R}$ , and  $\mathscr{I}_x$  is nothing but the Jet space  $J_x^1(\mathbb{R}, M)$ , of sections (classical motions)  $s : T \to M$ .

Another way to reach the same conclusion is as follows. The observer space is an elliptic paraboloid on the cotangent affine space  $E_x^*$ . The quotient  $E_x^*/\psi$  where  $\psi$  is the affine normal is in one-to-one correspondence with the paraboloid. It is an affine space modeled over the vector space  $T_x^*M/\psi$ . As a consequence, since the latter is nothing but the dual space to  $S_x$  and  $\gamma/\psi$  provides a bijection between the former and the latter, the observer space can be identified with an affine space  $\mathscr{I}_x$  associated to  $S_x$ .

Let  $p \in \mathscr{I}_x$  denote an observer. We can find a basis  $\{e_\alpha\}$  of the tangent space such that  $e_0 = p, e_i \in S_x$  and  $a(e_i, e_j) = \delta_{ij}$ . Then every element of the tangent space can be written  $y = (u, v_1, \ldots, v_n)$  where the locus  $\mathscr{I}_x$  reads u = 1. This choice of coordinates is an *observer coordinate system*, and it is clear that any two choices for the same observer p differ only for the orientation of the axes, namely for an orthogonal transformation of v. Changes of coordinates between different observers are linear, and since they must preserve both the equation  $y^0 = 1$  and the diagonal form of a they are necessarily of the form u' = u,  $v^{\tilde{i}} = O^{\tilde{i}}_{j}(v^{j} - v^{j}_{0}u)$ . Let  $q_\alpha$  be coordinates in  $T_x^*M$  dual to  $y^\alpha$ , then the coordinate change induces a coordinate change  $-q_{\tilde{0}} = -q_0 + v_0 \cdot q$ ,  $q_{\tilde{i}}O^{\tilde{i}}_{j} = q_{j}$ , which is the linear part of the affine change (80)–(81) where affine coordinates are used. We remark that there is no Legendre connection between u and  $-p_0$ .

We have established that the velocity space is given by a hyperplane  $\mathscr{I}_x$  parallel to  $S_x$  on  $T_x M$ . The cone of the relativistic theory degenerates to the open half space  $I_x$  containing  $\mathscr{I}_x$ . A curve,  $s \mapsto x(s)$  is timelike if its tangent vector belongs to  $I_{x(s)}$  for every *s*. The following result is pretty easy to prove (take a piecewise timelike curve which approximates a parallelogram whose opposite sides belong to the integral lines of two vector fields in ker  $\psi$ )

**Proposition 10.** The non-relativistic spacetime is locally chronological if and only if ker  $\psi$  is locally integrable, namely  $d\psi \wedge \psi = 0$ .

In this work we considered just the kinematical aspects of the relativistic and nonrelativistic theories. We can add further structure as follows. In order to compare the kinematical structure at different spacetime points we shall need a connection. In the classical case a natural possibility could be given by a torsionless linear connection  $\nabla$ of the tangent bundle such that  $\nabla \gamma = \nabla \psi = 0$ , namely a connection that respects the kinematical structure [47,89]. Let  $T(X, Y) = \nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X - [X, Y]$ , since

$$d\psi(X, Y) = X(\psi(Y)) - Y(\psi(X)) - \psi([X, Y])$$
  
=  $\psi(T(X, Y)) + (\nabla_X \psi)(Y) - (\nabla_Y \psi)(X) = 0,$ 

the one-form  $\psi$  is closed and hence locally exact. Thus the existence of a classical time is really an outcome of the theory.

### 4. Geodesic Flow on the Light Cone Bundle and Causality

Let  $N = \partial \Omega$  be the hypersurface of  $TM \setminus 0$  given by the lightlike vectors. In this section we assume that

(\*) N is  $C^{2,1}$  and the open sharp cones  $\Omega_x$  are strongly convex<sup>6</sup>

and prove that these differentiability conditions guarantee a well defined notion of lightlike geodesic on spacetime.

Observe that due to the low regularity of  $\mathscr{L}$  at the boundary of the cone, we cannot expect to construct the lightlike spray from the metric as done in the Lorentz–Finsler theories for which  $\mathscr{L}$  is  $C^2$  and Lorentzian on  $\overline{\Omega}$  (for other results related to the differentiability of the Lagrangian at the light cone see [70]).

**Proposition 11.** Assume (\*). There exist maps  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}: U \to \mathbb{R}$ , U open set,  $N \subset U$ ,  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}|_N = 0$ ,  $d\hat{\mathscr{L}}_x|_N \neq 0$ ,  $\hat{\mathscr{L}} < 0$  on  $\Omega \cap U$ ,  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$  is positive homogeneous of degree two in the fiber and it has the degree of differentiability of N.

Here  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}_x(y) = \hat{\mathscr{L}}(x, y)$  and it is understood that  $d\hat{\mathscr{L}}_x = \frac{\partial \hat{\mathscr{L}}}{\partial y^{\mu}} dy^{\mu}$  while  $d\hat{\mathscr{L}} = \frac{\partial \hat{\mathscr{L}}}{\partial y^{\mu}} dy^{\mu} + \frac{\partial \hat{\mathscr{L}}}{\partial x^{\mu}} dx^{\mu}$ , thus we have also  $d\hat{\mathscr{L}} \neq 0$  on *N*.

Notice that  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$  is not asked to define affine spheres on  $\Omega$ , in fact its domain is just an open neighborhood of N, nor it is demanded to have invertible Hessian on U. Of course, there will be many functions with these properties; they might be called *subsidiary* Lagrangians. We denote with  $\hat{L}$  the family of such functions.

*Proof.* Take a smooth section  $x \mapsto P_x \cap N$  of the light cones introducing a distribution of affine hyperplanes  $P_x$  on TM (in suitable local coordinates this distribution  $x \to P_x$  reads  $y^0 = 1$ ). By the existence of tubular neighborhoods we can introduce a function  $\hat{u}^2$  near the section so that it has the same degree of differentiability of N, vanishes and has non-zero differential on  $P_x \cap N$ . The function  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$  is obtained using Eq. (59).  $\Box$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Actually we could just demand  $C^{1,1}$  differentiability in the *x* variable, and  $C^{2,1}$  differentiability in mixed or vertical variables. The convexity assumption means that the local graph of a section of  $N_x$ , being  $C^2$ , has positive second order term in the Taylor expansion. The convexity requirement on the cone has strong implications for differentiability (by Alexandrov's theorem convexity implies twice differentiability a.e.) so these conditions are likely to be relaxable.

The affine sphere Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}$  in general does not belong to  $\hat{L}$ . Here the idea is to define a dynamics through  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}$  and show that it is really independent of  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}$ . As consequence, the dynamics follows solely from the distribution of cones *N*. The result is analogous to the general relativistic result according to which unparametrized lightlike geodesics depend only on the light cone distribution. In that case the result is immediate given the fact that this distribution determines the conformal class of the metric. Here the proof is totally different since we have the added difficulties of anisotropy and lack of twice differentiability at the cone.

As a first result we prove that every function in  $\hat{L}$  has Lorentzian Hessian at N.

# **Lemma 1** (Asssume $(\star)$ ). Every element of $\hat{L}$ has Lorentzian vertical Hessian on N.

*Proof.* For  $y \in N_x$ , let  $g_y := \frac{\partial^2 \hat{\mathcal{L}}}{\partial y^{\mu} \partial y^{\nu}}(x, y) dy^{\mu} dy^{\nu}$ . By positive homogeneity  $g_y(y, y) =$  $2\hat{\mathscr{L}} = 0$  which proves that the signature of  $g_{y}$  has some zeros or both plus and minus signs. Let  $w \in T_y N_x$ ,  $w \not \propto y$ , and let y(t) be a curve on  $N_x$ , where y = y(0),  $w = \dot{y}(0)$ . Since  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}_x(y(t)) = 0$  we have differentiating twice and setting  $t = 0, g_y(w, w) +$  $d\hat{\mathscr{L}}_r(\ddot{v}(0)) = 0$ . But since the cone is convex  $\ddot{v}(0)$  points towards the interior namely  $d\hat{\mathscr{L}}_{x}(\ddot{y}(0)) < 0$  thus  $g_{y}(w, w) > 0$  which shows that the signature has at least n-1 plus signs since any n-1-dimensional subspace which stays on ker  $d\hat{\mathscr{L}}_{x|y}$  and is transverse to y is a positive subspace for the Hessian. For the other two signs we are left with the possibilities  $(-, +), (-, -), (0, 0), (\pm, 0)$  since they are the only ones that admit a vector with null  $g_{y}$ -square. However, (+, 0) and (0, 0) are not acceptable since there the vectors with null  $g_{y}$ -square necessarily annihilate  $g_{y}$ , while we have by positive homogeneity  $g_y(\cdot, y) = d\hat{\mathscr{L}}_x|_y \neq 0$  since  $y \in N_x$ . The choice (-, -) is not acceptable since we have just shown that  $g_{y}$  restricted to ker  $d\hat{\mathscr{L}}_{x|y}$  has signature (0, +, ..., +), while for this choice there is no n-dimensional subspace with this signature (for this type of arguments it is useful to keep in mind Cauchy interlacing theorem). The choice (-, 0) is not acceptable since again we have just shown that  $g_y$  restricted to ker  $d\hat{\mathscr{L}}_x|_y$ has signature (0, +, ..., +) where y annihilates the restricted quadratic form. Here we do have a *n*-dimensional subspace with this signature but the only possibility is that y annihilates  $g_y$ , which is impossible since  $g_y(\cdot, y) = d\hat{\mathscr{L}}_x|_y \neq 0$ . Thus the only possibility is that  $g_v$  is Lorentzian.  $\Box$ 

Let  $\hat{\mathscr{L}} \in \hat{L}$ , any  $C^2$  solution  $t \mapsto x(t)$  of the Lagrange equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\frac{\partial\hat{\mathscr{L}}}{\partial y^{\mu}} - \frac{\partial\hat{\mathscr{L}}}{\partial x^{\mu}} = 0, \qquad y^{\mu} = \frac{\mathrm{d}x^{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}t}, \tag{83}$$

is such that  $\frac{d}{dt}\hat{\mathscr{L}}(x(t), \dot{x}(t)) = 0$ , thus it belongs to N if any of its points belongs to it. This equation really defines a flow on N, in fact since the vertical Hessian is Lorentzian and hence invertible on N it can be written in the (spray) form

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}y^{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}t} + g_{y}^{\mu\sigma} \left( \frac{\partial^{2}\hat{\mathscr{L}}}{\partial x^{\nu} \partial y^{\sigma}} y^{\nu} - \frac{\partial \hat{\mathscr{L}}}{\partial x^{\sigma}} \right) = 0, \qquad y^{\mu} = \frac{\mathrm{d}x^{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}t}.$$

which is a Lipschitz vector field over N. Existence and uniqueness of the solution is now standard from the theory of ODEs [32]. The map  $t \mapsto x(t)$  will be at least  $C^{2,1}$ ; more if N has stronger differentiability properties. We now show that this unparametrized flow depends solely on the distribution of light cones.

**Proposition 12.** Assume (\*). The unparametrized lightlike solutions to (83) do not depend on the choice of  $\hat{\mathscr{L}} \in \hat{L}$ , and so depend solely on the distribution of light cones N.

*Proof.* Let  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}' \in \hat{L}$  be another choice. Since  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$  and  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}'$  vanish on the hypersurface N and are negative on  $\Omega$  we must have  $d\hat{\mathscr{L}} = \phi \, d\hat{\mathscr{L}}'$  for some positive function  $\phi$  on N. This means that for  $(x, y) \in N$ ,

$$\frac{\partial \hat{\mathscr{L}}}{\partial x^{\mu}} = \phi \frac{\partial \hat{\mathscr{L}}'}{\partial x^{\mu}}, \qquad \frac{\partial \hat{\mathscr{L}}}{\partial y^{\mu}} = \phi \frac{\partial \hat{\mathscr{L}}'}{\partial y^{\mu}}.$$
(84)

(the latter equation and the positive homogeneity of both  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$  and  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}'$  prove that  $\phi$  is positive homogeneous of degree zero.) From (83) it is immediate that  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$  is conserved and so that  $\dot{x}$  is lightlike for every *t*, namely  $(x(t), \dot{x}(t)) \in N$ . Then over the curve

$$0 = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\frac{\partial\hat{\mathscr{L}}}{\partial y^{\mu}} - \frac{\partial\hat{\mathscr{L}}}{\partial x^{\mu}} = \phi\left(\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\log\phi\right)\frac{\partial\hat{\mathscr{L}'}}{\partial y^{\mu}} + \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\frac{\partial\hat{\mathscr{L}'}}{\partial y^{\mu}} - \frac{\partial\hat{\mathscr{L}'}}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)(x(t), \dot{x}(t))$$

Let t'(t) be another parametrization to be determined. Since  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}'$  is positive homogeneous of degree two in y, so is it partial derivative with respect to x, while the partial derivative with respect to y is positive homogeneous of degree one, thus from

$$\left(\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\log\phi\right)\frac{\mathrm{d}t'}{\mathrm{d}t}\frac{\partial\hat{\mathscr{L}}'}{\partial y^{\mu}} + \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\left(\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}t'}{\mathrm{d}t}\right)\frac{\partial\hat{\mathscr{L}}'}{\partial y^{\mu}}\right) - \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}t'}{\mathrm{d}t}\right)^{2}\frac{\partial\hat{\mathscr{L}}'}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)\left(x'(t'), \frac{\mathrm{d}x'}{\mathrm{d}t'}(t')\right) = 0,$$

where x'(t') := x(t), we get

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}t'}{\mathrm{d}t}\right)^{-1} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\log\left(\phi\frac{\mathrm{d}t'}{\mathrm{d}t}\right)\right) \frac{\partial\hat{\mathscr{L}'}}{\partial y^{\mu}} + \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t'}\frac{\partial\hat{\mathscr{L}'}}{\partial y^{\mu}} - \frac{\partial\hat{\mathscr{L}'}}{\partial x^{\mu}} = 0$$

The choice

$$t' = \int \frac{1}{\phi(x(t), \dot{x}(t))} dt$$
(85)

shows that the reparametrization x'(t') satisfies (83) with  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$  replaced by  $\hat{\mathscr{L}'}$  and t replaced by t'.  $\Box$ 

We conclude

**Theorem 25.** Assume  $(\star)$ , then we have a natural definition of lightlike geodesic which coincides with that for a subsidiary Lagrangian vertically  $C^{2,1}$  at the light cone.

Let x(t) be a lightlike solution to (83), we say that t is a  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$ -parametrization of the unparametrized geodesic x. Since  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$  is positive homogeneous of degree two, any two  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$ -parametrizations are affinely related. We say that the  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$ -parametrization t is *syntonized* with the  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}'$ -parametrization t' if at every point of x

$$dt = \phi dt'$$
 where  $\phi$  is given by  $d\hat{\mathcal{L}} = \phi d\hat{\mathcal{L}}'$ 

The two parametrizations are syntonized at one event if they are at every event.

П

**Theorem 26.** Parametrizations relative to different Lagrangians in  $\hat{L}$  assign the same momenta to the lightlike geodesic if and only if they are syntonized.

Proof. It follows from the identity

$$\frac{\partial \hat{\mathscr{L}}}{\partial y^{\mu}}(x(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}t}(t)) = \phi \frac{\partial \hat{\mathscr{L}}'}{\partial y^{\mu}}(x(t), \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}t}(t))$$
$$= \phi \frac{\mathrm{d}t'}{\mathrm{d}t} \frac{\partial \hat{\mathscr{L}}'}{\partial y^{\mu}}(x'(t'), \frac{\mathrm{d}x'}{\mathrm{d}t'}(t')) \tag{86}$$

4.0.1. Transport of momenta. The notion of affine parameter on the lightlike geodesic might appear to be necessary for the physical interpretation of the theory. However, this is not so, what is mandatory is the possibility of transporting the momenta, while there could be no bijection between momenta and vectors. In fact, observations are obtained coupling a momenta relative to a massive/massless particle with a velocity space vector (hence timelike) representing an observer. Null vectors are really just intermediate tools in theories like general relativity, used to express important concepts such as lightlike geodesics and momenta. They can be used because in those metrical theories there happen to be a one to one correspondence with lightlike momenta, a correspondence which is purely accidental and related to the fact that g makes sense at the boundary of the cone. This correspondence is now lost in our theory without, however, leading to any loss of physical content. This is really a good feature of our theory as it helps us to identify and remove unnecessary mathematical constraints.

Let us elaborate on this important point. We have seen that each Lagrangian  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$  has Lorentzian Hessian on the light cone, thus there is a bijective map from lightlike vectors to lightlike momenta. However, this map depends on  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$  and so is not physically relevant. Without a Lagrangian we have just a bijection between lightlike momenta *directions* and lightlike vector *directions*, a map which follows from the duality between the strongly convex  $C^2$  cone  $\Omega_x \subset T_x M \setminus 0$ , and its polar  $\Omega_x^* \subset T_x^* M \setminus 0$ . It turns out that this is all we need for moving the momenta of a lightlike particle along its geodesic.

So suppose we are given a photon of momenta p at some event. We find first the lightlike direction that corresponds to it using the duality of the cones, then the unparametrized lightlike geodesic. We choose an element  $\hat{\mathscr{L}} \in \hat{L}$  and a starting velocity which is mapped to p by the Legendre map of  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$ . This assigns a parametrization to the lightlike geodesic. If we were to choose a different element of  $\hat{L}$  we would still get a syntonized parametrization by Theorem 26, thus since parametrizations that are syntonized at one event remain syntonized, by the same theorem the momenta assigned to the other points of the lightlike geodesic does not depend on the choice of  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$ .

We conclude

**Theorem 27.** Assume (\*). There is a natural unparametrized flow on  $N^*$  such that every integral curve  $\gamma$  projects on an unparametrized lightlike geodesic  $\sigma$ . If  $(x, p) \in \gamma$  and y is tangent to  $\sigma$  at x then  $p_{\mu}y^{\mu} = 0$ .

4.0.2. Affine parameter. Some results and constructions might still require some notion of affine parameter. In order to introduce this concept the next argument could be of value. Suppose to have been given not just the distribution of light cones but a Lorentz–Finsler Lagrangian which is Lipschitz on N (this is basically the case of affine sphere

relativity provided we assume that the *x* dependence is not problematic and the vertical Lipschitz constant is locally uniform in *x*; recall the mentioned result by Cheng and Yau [17, p. 53] which assures Lipschitzness in the vertical variable, or Corollary 3). We want to show that there is a natural parametrization on the lightlike geodesics determined up to affine transformations. Let x(t) be a lightlike geodesic parametrized accordingly to the Lagrangian  $\hat{\mathcal{L}} \in \hat{L}$ . The differential  $d\mathcal{L}_x$  exists almost everywhere<sup>7</sup> on  $N_x$ , thus we can find a locally bounded almost everywhere positive measurable function  $\varphi : N \to \mathbb{R}$  such that at every *x* and almost every  $y \in N_x$ ,  $d\mathcal{L}_x = \varphi d\hat{\mathcal{L}}_x$ . Defining

$$\lambda = \int \varphi(x(t), \dot{x}(t)) \mathrm{d}t$$

we obtain a parametrization which up to affine transformations it is independent of  $\hat{\mathscr{L}} \in \hat{L}$  as it follows from Eqs. (84) and (85). If  $\mathscr{L}$  is just Lipschitz at the cone this parameter is defined only on almost every geodesic, since it is required that  $d\hat{\mathscr{L}}_x$  exists on almost every point of the geodesic. The lightlike geodesic with images that do not comply with this requirement can be still approximated by lightlike geodesics for which the affine parameter is defined.

4.0.3. Causality theory. We know that the limit of an accumulating sequence of Finsler causal curves is still a Finsler causal curve, the argument being that given in [70, Remark 2]. Let  $y_n \in T_x M$ ,  $y_n \rightarrow y$ , where  $y_n$  are timelike and y is lightlike. We did not prove that the timelike geodesics with starting velocity  $y_n$  converge in the limit to the lightlike geodesic with starting velocity y. We were not able to do so since the non-differentiability of the Lagrangian might imply that the limit is chronal though causal. Still the body of causality theory does not depend on this result but rather on the local achronality of lightlike geodesics (for instance, this property assures that Cauchy horizons are generated by lightlike geodesics). Here we prove that the lightlike geodesics previously introduced are locally achronal (with respect to the timelike curves defined by  $\mathcal{L}$ ).

**Proposition 13.** Assume (\*). The subsidiary Lorentzian Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}: U \to \mathbb{R}, N \subset U$ , can be chosen so that  $U = TM \setminus 0$ , it has Lorentzian Hessian and the same degree of differentiability of N.

*Proof.* On  $T_x M$  let us consider the parametrization of the indicatrix of  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$  (defined near the light cone) through the function u (see Eq. (60)). Here u is defined just on a half neighborhood  $U = \{v \in \overline{D} : -\epsilon < u(v) \leq 0\}$ ,  $\partial D \subset U \subset \overline{D}$ , where u = 0 on  $\partial D$ . The Lorentzian nature of the Hessian of  $\hat{\mathscr{L}}$  is equivalent to the convexity of u (see Eqs. (37) and (46)). So we want to show that the  $C^2$  function u can be extended to the whole D preserving convexity and its degree of differentiability. Due to a theorem by Min Yan [99, Theor. 3.2] we have just to show that u is convex on U (which means  $u(\alpha v_1 + \beta v_2) \leq \alpha u(v_1) + \beta u(v_2)$  for  $\alpha, \beta \geq 0, \alpha + \beta = 1$ , whenever the linear combination belongs to U). Let h be the extension of u obtained setting  $h = -\epsilon$  inside the region bounded by  $\partial U$ . Its epigraph is convex since it is locally convex and connected (Tietze-Nakajima's theorem) thus  $u|_U$  was convex (alternatively apply directly the theorem by Ghomi [28]). We have extended the subsidiary Lagrangian to  $\overline{\Omega}_x$ . The extension over  $T_x M$  follows from the main result of [70].  $\Box$ 

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  It is really defined everywhere if the cones are smooth, see Corollary 3.

Let *N* be  $C^{3,1}$ . As the original and the subsidiary Lagrangian share the same timelike cones and lightlike geodesics the causality of our original Finsler theory coincides with that of the subsidiary Lagrangian. Causality theory for Lagrangians  $C^{3,1}$  defined on  $TM \setminus 0$  has been developed in [64] where we proved that lightlike geodesics are achronal [64, Theor. 6]. Thus the same holds for the present theory.

**Corollary 4.** *The lightlike geodesics just introduced are locally achronal with respect to the chronological relation determined by the light cones.* 

As a consequence, standard results of causality theory follow (e.g. [64, Lemma 2]). Actually, we have shown that causality theory does not depend on a Lagrangian as its main results follow just from the definition of N.

#### 5. Conclusions

Finsler gravity theory has proved successful in generalizing some standard results of causality theory including singularity theorems. In this work we have argued that the family of Finsler spacetimes might be too broad. We showed that in order to establish a one-to-one correspondence with the family of pairs given by (a) sharp convex cone structure and (b) spacetime volume form, we have to restrict ourselves to *affine sphere spacetimes*, namely to Finsler spacetimes having affine sphere indicatrices, or equivalently, having vanishing mean Cartan torsion. Only through this restriction can we preserve the deep correspondence between spacetimes and pairs of spacetime measures and conic orders.

We obtained this result taking advantage of some deep mathematical theorems on affine differential geometry proved in the sixties and seventies by Calabi, Cheng, Yau and other mathematicians. In particular, we showed that for a consistent physical interpretation projective coordinates should be used on the tangent bundle and homogeneous coordinates should be used on the cotangent bundle. These are the coordinate systems that simplify the Monge–Ampère equation of the affine sphere and which admit the simplest physical interpretation in terms of velocity and momentum variables. We have also shown that the non-relativistic theory admits the same formulation; it is sufficient to replace proper affine spheres with improper affine spheres. In fact, we have shown that improper affine sphere spacetimes are equivalent to Galilei structures, namely to the kinematical structures representing non-relativistic physics.

In the last section we have returned to the more general context of Lorentz–Finsler theories. We have shown that the unparametrized lightlike geodesic flow and the transport of lightlike momenta over lightlike geodesics can be consistently defined without using the differentiability of the Lagrangian at the cone, but using just differentiability and convexity conditions on the distribution of light cones. In fact, we have shown that the lightlike geodesics and the transport of lightlike momenta depend solely on the light cone distribution, not on the Lagrangian. This is a surprising and very satisfactory result. The affine parameter could be defined in some cases but we argued that it does not seem necessary for most of the physical interpretation of the theory. Finally, we have shown that the basic results of causality theory do not depend on some Lagrangian differentiability condition at the light cone.

Much of the difficulties connected with the Finslerian generalization of general relativity are due to an overabundance of mathematical objects. Fortunately, in the last years a less tensorial, more geometrical approach has helped to clarify several aspects of this theory. Its ability to involve some beautiful but somewhat overlooked chapters of mathematics, such as affine differential geometry, might signal that we could be on the right path for the development of a physical extension of general relativity. Indeed, the overall feeling is that we might be rapidly progressing towards a mature gravitational theory.

Acknowledgements. I thank Xu-Jia Wang for suggesting to pass through the regularity of the graph of u to estimate the regularity of  $u^2$  (cf. Proposition 3). I announced the main idea of this work in [67], and explored other aspects of the condition  $I_{\alpha} = 0$  in [63,68]. This work has been partially supported by GNFM of INDAM.

## References

- Aazami, A.B., Javaloyes, M.A.: Penrose's singularity theorem in a Finsler spacetime. Class. Quantum Grav. 33, 025003 (2016)
- Álvarez Paiva, J.C., Thompson, A. C.: Volumes on normed and Finsler spaces. In: A sampler of Riemann– Finsler geometry, vol. 50, pp. 1–48. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge. Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ. (2004)
- Anderson, J.L., Finkelstein, D.: Cosmological constant and fundamental length. Am. J. Phys. 39, 901– 904 (1971)
- 4. Asanov, G.S.: Finsler geometry, relativity and gauge theories. D. Reidel Publishing Co, Dordrecht (1985)
- Basilakos, S., Kouretsis, A.P., Saridakis, E.N., Stavrinos, P.: Resembling dark energy and modified gravity with Finsler-Randers cosmology. Phys. Rev. D. 88, 123510 (2013)
- 6. Beem, J.K.: Indefinite Finsler spaces and timelike spaces. Can. J. Math. 22, 1035–1039 (1970)
- Beem, J.K.: On the indicatrix and isotropy group in Finsler spaces with Lorentz signature. Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Nat. 54(8), 385–392 (1974) (1973)
- 8. Benoist, Y.: Convexes divisibles. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 332, 387–390 (2001)
- 9. Blaschke, W.: Vorlesungen über Differentialgeometrie und geometrische Grundlagen von Einsteins Relativitätstheorie. Band II., Affine Differentialgeometrie. J. Springer, Berlin (1923)
- 10. Bock, R.D.: Local scale invariance and general relativity. Int. J. Theor. Phys. 42, 1835-1847 (2003)
- Bombelli, L., Lee, J.-H., Meyer, D., Sorkin, R.D.: Space-time as a causal set. Phys. Rev. Lett. 59, 521– 524 (1987)
- Brickell, F.: A new proof of Deicke's theorem on homogeneous functions. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 16, 190– 191 (1965)
- Calabi, E.: Improper affine hyperspheres of convex type and a generalization of a theorem by K. Jörgens. Michigan Math. J. 5, 105–126 (1958)
- Calabi, E.: Complete affine hyperspheres. I. In: Symposia Mathematica, Vol. X (Convegno di Geometria Differenziale, INDAM, Rome, 1971), pp. 19–38. Academic Press, London (1972)
- Cartan, E.: Sur les variétés à connexion affine et la théorie de la relativité généralisée (première partie). Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (3) 40, 325–412 (1923)
- Castro, C.: Gravity in curved phase-spaces, Finsler geometry and two-times physics. Int. J. Mod. Phys. A. 27, 1250069 (2012)
- 17. Cheng, S.-Y. Yau S.-T.: On the regularity of the Monge-Ampère equation  $det(\partial^2 u/\partial x_i \partial x_j) = F(x, u)$ . Comm. Pure Appl. Math. **30**, 41–68 (1977)
- Cheng, S.Y., Yau, S.-T.: The real Monge-Ampère equation and affine flat structures. In: Proceedings of the 1980 Beijing Symposium on Differential Geometry and Differential Equations, Vol. 1, 2, 3 (Beijing, 1980), pp. 339–370. Science Press, Beijing (1982)
- Cheng, S.-Y., Yau, S.-T.: Complete affine hypersurfaces. I. The completeness of affine metrics. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 39, 839–866 (1986)
- 20. Deicke, A.: Über die Finsler–Räume mit  $A_i = 0$ . Arch. Math. **4**, 45–51 (1953)
- 21. Dillen, F., Vrancken, L.: Calabi-type composition of affine spheres. Diff. Geom. Appl. 4, 303–328 (1994)
- Dixon, W.G.: On the uniqueness of the Newtonian theory as a geometric theory of gravitation. Commun. Math. Phys. 45, 167–182 (1975)
- Duval, C., Burdet, G., Künzle, H.P., Perrin, M.: Bargmann structures and Newton–Cartan theory. Phys. Rev. D 31, 1841–1853 (1985)
- Duval, C., Gibbons, G.W., Horvathy, P.A., Zhang, P.M.: Carroll versus Newton and Galilei: two dual non-Einsteinian concepts of time. Class. Quantum Grav. 31 (2014)
- Fox, D.J.F.: Functions dividing their Hessian determinants and affine spheres. Asian J. Math. 20(3), 503– 530 (2016)
- Fox, D.J.F.: A Schwarz lemma for K\u00e4hler affine metrics and the canonical potential of a proper convex cone. Annali di Matematica 194, 1–42 (2015)
- 27. Geroch, R.: A method for generating solutions of Einstein's equations. J. Math. Phys. 12, 918–923 (1971)

- Ghomi, M.: The problem of optimal smoothing for convex functions. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 130, 2255– 2259 (2002) (electronic)
- 29. Gigena, S.: Integral invariants of convex cones. J. Diff. Geom. 13, 191-222 (1981)
- 30. Gigena, S.: On a conjecture by E. Calabi. Geom. Dedicata 11, 387–396 (1981)
- 31. Godbillon, C.: Géométrie différentielle et mécanique analytique. Hermann, Paris (1969)
- 32. Hartman, P.: Ordinary differential equations. Wiley, New York (1964)
- Hildebrand, R.: Analytic formulas for complete hyperbolic affine spheres. Contrib. Algebra Geometr. 55, 497–520 (2014)
- 34. Hildebrand, R.: Canonical barriers on convex cones. Math. Oper. Res. 39, 841-850 (2014)
- Hildebrand, R.: Centro-affine hypersurface immersions with parallel cubic form. Contrib. Algebra Geometr. 56, 593–640 (2015)
- Hu, Z., Li, H., Vrancken, L.: Locally strongly convex affine hypersurfaces with parallel cubic form. J. Differ. Geom. 87, 239–308 (2011)
- 37. Horváth, J.I.: A geometrical model for the unified theory of physical fields. Phys. Rev. 80, 901 (1950)
- Horváth, J.I., Moór, A.: Entwicklung einer einheitlichen feldtheorie begründet auf die finslersche geometrie. Z. Physik 131, 544–570 (1952)
- 39. Ikeda, S.: On the theory of gravitational field in Finsler spaces. Lett. Nuovo Cimento 26, 277-281 (1979)
- 40. Ishikawa, H.: Einstein equation in lifted Finsler spaces. Il Nuovo Cimento 56, 252–262 (1980)
- 41. Ishikawa, H.: Note on Finslerian relativity. J. Math. Phys. 22, 995–1004 (1981)
- Jian, H., Wang, X.-J.: Bernstein theorem and regularity for a class of Monge–Ampère equations. J. Differ. Geom. 93, 431–469 (2013)
- 43. Jo, K.: Quasi-homogeneous domains and convex affine manifolds. Topol. Appl. 134, 123-146 (2003)
- 44. Jörgens, K.: Über die Lösungen der Differentialgleichung  $rt s^2 = 1$ . Math. Ann. 127, 130–134 (1954)
- 45. Knebelman, M.S.: Conformal geometry of generalized metric spaces. Proc. N. A. S. 15, 376-379 (1929)
- 46. Kobayashi, S., Nomizu, K.: Foundations of differential geometry. vol. I of Interscience tracts in pure and applied mathematics. Interscience Publishers, New York (1963)
- 47. Künzle, H.P.: Galilei and Lorentz structures on space-time: comparison of the correspondig geometry and physics. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Phys. Theor. **17**, 337–362 (1972)
- 48. Künzle, H.P.: Covariant Newtonian limit of Lorentz space-times. Gen. Rel. Grav. 7, 445–457 (1976)
- Lämmerzahl, C., Perlick, V., Hasse, W.: Observable effects in a class of spherically symmetric static Finsler spacetimes. Phys. Rev. D. 86, 104042 (2012)
- Laugwitz, D.: Geometrical methods in the differential geometry of Finsler spaces. In: Geometria del calcolo delle variazioni, pp. 173–226. Springer, Heidelberg, Fondazione C.I.M.E., Florence, vol. 23 of C.I.M.E. Summer Sch. (2011) (Reprint of the 1961 original)
- 51. Li, A.-M.: Calabi conjecture on hyperbolic affine hyperspheres. II. Math. Ann. 293, 485–493 (1992)
- Li, A.M., Simon, U., Zhao, G.S.: Global affine differential geometry of hypersurfaces. Vol. 11 of de Gruyter Expositions in Mathematics. Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin (1993)
- Li, A.-M., Xu, R.: A cubic form differential inequality with applications to affine k\u00e4hler-ricci flat manifolds. Res. Math. 54, 329–340 (2009)
- 54. Li, A.-M., Xu, R.: A rigidity theorem for an affine Kähler–Ricci flat graph. Res. Math. 56, 141–164 (2009)
- Li, X., Chang, Z.: Exact solution of vacuum field equation in Finsler spacetime. Phys. Rev. D. 90, 064049. arXiv:1401.6363v1 (2014)
- Lin, F.H., Wang, L.: A class of fully nonlinear elliptic equations with singularity at the boundary. J. Geom. Anal. 8, 583–598 (1998)
- Loewner, C., Nirenberg, L.: Partial differential equations invariant under conformal or projective transformations. In: Contributions to analysis (a collection of papers dedicated to Lipman Bers), pp. 245–272. Academic Press, New York (1974)
- Loftin, J.: Survey on affine spheres. In: Handbook of geometric analysis, No. 2., pp. 161–191. Int. Press, Somerville, MA, vol. 13 of Adv. Lect. Math. (ALM) (2010)
- 59. Loftin, J.C.: Riemannian metrics on locally projectively flat manifolds. Am. J. Math. 124, 595–609 (2002)
- 60. Matsumoto, M.: On c-reducible Finsler spaces. Tensor 24, 29–37 (1972)
- 61. Matsumoto, M.: On the indicatrices of a Finsler space. Period. Math. Hung. 8, 187–191 (1977)
- 62. Matsumoto, M., Höjö, S.: A conclusive theorem on c-reducible Finsler spaces. Tensor 32, 225-230 (1978)
- Minguzzi, E.: The connections of pseudo-Finsler spaces. Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys. 11, 1460025 (2014). Erratum ibid 12 (2015) 1592001. arXiv:1405.0645
- Minguzzi, E.: Convex neighborhoods for Lipschitz connections and sprays. Monatsh. Math. 177, 569–625 (2015). arXiv:1308.6675
- 65. Minguzzi, E.: Light cones in Finsler spacetime. Commun. Math. Phys. 334, 1529–1551 (2015). arXiv:1403.7060
- Minguzzi, E.: Raychaudhuri equation and singularity theorems in Finsler spacetimes. Class. Quantum Grav. 32, 185008 (2015). arXiv:1502.02313

- 67. Minguzzi, E.: How many futures on Finsler spacetime? J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 626, 012029 (2015). arXiv:1502.02313
- 68. Minguzzi, E.: A divergence theorem for pseudo-Finsler spaces (2015). arXiv:1508.06053
- 69. Minguzzi, E.: Affine sphere spacetimes which satisfy the relativity principle. Phys. Rev. D. (2016) in press
- 70. Minguzzi, E.: An equivalence of Finslerian relativistic theories. Rep. Math. Phys. 77, 45–55 (2016). arXiv:1412.4228
- 71. Miron, R.: On the Finslerian theory of relativity. Tensor 44, 63-81 (1987)
- 72. Miron, R., Rosca, R., Anastasiei, M., Buchner, K.: New aspects of Lagrangian relativity. Found. Phys. Lett. 5, 141–171 (1992)
- Mo, L., Xiaohuan, Huang: On characterizations of Randers norms in Minkowski space. Int. J. Math. 21 (2010)
- 74. Nomizu, K., Sasaki, T.: Affine differential geometry. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1994)
- 75. Perlick, V.: Fermat principle in Finsler spacetimes. Gen. Relat. Gravit. **38**, 365–380 (2006)
- Pfeifer, C., Wohlfarth, M.N.R.: Finsler geometric extension of Einstein gravity. Phys. Rev. D. 85, 064009 (2012)
- Pimenov, R. I.: Axiomatics of generally relativistic and Finsler space-times by means of causality. Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 29, 133–143, 218 (1988)
- 78. Pogorelov, A.V.: On the improper convex affine hyperspheres. Geom. Dedicata 1, 33–46 (1972)
- 79. Randers, G.: On an asymmetric metric in the four-space of general relativity. Phys. Rev. D. 59, 195–199 (1941)
- Rutz, S.F.: A Finsler generalisation of Einstein's vacuum field equations. Gen. Relat. Gravit. 25, 1139– 1158 (1993)
- 81. Sasaki, T.: Hyperbolic affine hyperspheres. Nagoya Math. J. 77, 107-123 (1980)
- Simon, U.: Zur Relativgeometrie: Symmetrische Zusammenhänge auf Hyperflächen. Math. Z. 106, 36– 46 (1968)
- Stavrinos, P.C.: Gravitational and cosmological considerations based on the Finsler and Lagrange metric structures. Nonlinear Anal. 71, e1380–e1392 (2009)
- Stavrinos, P.C., Kouretsis, A.P., Stathakopoulos, M.: Friedman-like Robertson–Walker model in generalized metric space-time with weak anisotropy. Gen. Relat. Gravit. 40, 1403–1425 (2008)
- Storer, T.P.: Generalized relativity: a unified field theory based on free geodesic connections in Finsler space. Internat. J. Theoret. Phys. 39, 1351–1374 (2000)
- 86. Takano, Y.: Gravitational field in Finsler spaces. Lettere Al Nuovo Cimento 10, 747–750 (1974)
- 87. Takano, Y.: Variation principle in Finsler spaces. Lettere Al Nuovo Cimento 11, 486–490 (1974)
- 88. Teitelboim, M. H.C.: The cosmological constant and general covariance. Phys. Lett. B. 222 (1989)
- 89. Toupin, R.A.: World invariant kinematics. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 1, 181-211 (1958)
- 90. Trautman, A.: Sur la théorie newtonienne de la gravitation. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris. 257, 617-620 (1963)
- Trudinger, N.S., Wang, X.-J.: Affine complete locally convex hypersurfaces. Invent. Math. 150, 45– 60 (2002)
- Trudinger, N.S., Wang, X.-J.: The Monge–Ampère equation and its geometric applications. In: Handbook of geometric analysis. No. 1, pp. 467–524. Int. Press, Somerville, MA, vol. 7 of Adv. Lect. Math. (ALM) (2008)
- Vacaru, S.I.: Principles of Einstein–Finsler gravity and perspectives in modern cosmology. Int. J. Mod. Phys. D. 21, 1250072, 40 (2012)
- Vinberg, È.B.: The theory of convex homogeneous cones. Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obšč. 12, 303–358 (1963). [Trans. Mosc. Math. Soc. 12, 340–403 (1963)
- 95. Vinberg, È.B., Kac, V.G.: Quasi-homogeneous cones. Mat. Zametki 1, 347–354 (1967)
- Voicu, N.: New considerations on Einstein equations in anisotropic spaces. AIP Conf. Proc. 1283, 249– 257 (2010)
- 97. Wald, R.M.: General Relativity. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago (1984)
- 98. Xu, R., Zhu, L.: A simple proof of a rigidity theorem for an affine Kähler–Ricci flat graph. Res. Math. (2015) (in press)
- 99. Yan, M.: Extension of convex function. J. Convex Anal. 21, 965–987 (2014)

Communicated by P. T. Chruściel